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= CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TRE®E

Liu Jian
Chairman and chief executive officer

232
EEFTBHAR

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

For and on behalf of the board (the "“Board") of directors (the “"Directors’,
each a "Director”) of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (the “Company’,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

In summary, the key financial performance of the Group over the last year
ended 31 December 2024 included (i) increase in property management
business revenue from approximately RMB1,285.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB1,331.4 million for the
year ended 31December 2024, representing an increase of approximately
RMB45.9 million or 3.6%; (ii) increase in revenue generated from cleaning
and greening business of approximately RMB22.6 million; and (iii) increase
in revenue generated from other businesses of approximately RMB0.92
million. Overall, the Group's 2024 profit attributable to owners of the parent
amounted to RMB88.9 million (2023: RMB80.1 million), representing an
increase of 11.0% as compared to 2023.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HKD2.50 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HKD2.50 cents) to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 12 June 2025, making the total dividend
payment of approximately HKD21.4 million.

OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent property management company in
China. In 2024, the Group received the following recognition and awards.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBE

In July 2024, two subsidiaries of the Group — T KK EE R F R
/A A) (Zhejiang Yongcheng Property Management Company Limited*)
(‘Zhejiang Yongcheng Property’) and ER P R X EEFR A
Al (Guangdong Zhong Ao Property Management Company Limited*)
(‘Guangdong Zhong Ao’) received 2024 4F & # )T & ¥ 2 AR 7% AAA 4R
1& % (AAA-level Property Service Enterprise in Zhejiang Province in 2024%)
from 7 /L & F 5 F1 35k 48 2 5% B2 (Zhejiang Provincial Department of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development®).

In August 2024, the Group received 2024 Bl B R Y ¥ E 12 E ¥ 1§

— ERREEEF 2R ENL (2024 China International Property
Management Industry Expo — Excellent Exhibitors of Guangdong
from BRE YW EERIT¥ W& (Guangdong Property
Management Industry Institute*) ("GDPMII").

Pavilion*)

In November 2024, Guangdong Zhong Ao received 4k £ {5 fi% i 15 £&&
‘& R 78 & ¥ (Green Low — Carbon Enterprise Credit Demonstration
Certificate®) from 26 November 2024 to 25 November 2025 issued by A
£ & (KRS 7R FE 1 2 (China Green and Low-Carbon Integrity Certified
Enterprise™).

In December 2024, the Group received 2024 F BB R B W E & B 1T
¥ W& & 1EE B (Best Member of Guangdong Property Management
Industry Association in 2024%) from GDPMII.

In December 2024, Guangdong Zhong Ao received the following
recognitions, namely, 2024 3 5 88 38 & &2 # 4 % & 2 (2024 Operational
Excellence Property Management Enterprise for New Media*) + 2023-
4 FEREWMEBTIBITEMFRF B E (Honestly Benchmark
Enterprise of Property Management Industry in Guangdong Province in
2023-2024%) ~ 2024 BB EITH LS B 1 % (2024 Comprehensive
Strength Enterprise in Guangdong Property Industry*) ~ 2024 B 77 4=
SR MY E D (2024 Excellent Property Enterprise of Social
employment support*) and 2024 X /& [& %) 2 iz 7% 0o B2 1b 2 (2024
Property Service Brand Enterprise in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area*) from GDPMII.

6 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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As of 31 December 2024 , the Group had maintained its presence in 45
cities in China where it was delivered contracted to manage a total of
555 residential and non -residential properties such as commercial or
government buildings with an aggregate delivered contracted GFA of
approximately 60 million sg.m. This represents a decrease of approximately
3% compared to the delivered contracted GFA of approximately 62 million
sg.m as at 31 December 2023.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will continue to maintain its own advantage
as an independent property management company, competing with
counterparts in the market by its high quality service and operation
efficiency, actively establishing stable partnership with leading property
developers in all regions, exploring potential new development projects
and pursuing properties which have established owners’ associations.
When right opportunities arise, the Group will accelerate its expansion of
business scope and coverage in China through acquisition of property
management companies and other value adding service companies which
provide services related to communities.

In addition, we will closely persist in the philosophy of stable development
by gradually expanding the upstream and downstream industry chain, as
well as strategically realigning our industry foothold. On the other hand,
we expect to penetrate into the downstream sector of the industry chain
by acquiring firms specialized in living value adding services. In the next
few years, we will gradually ride on our strength to extend our reach along
the upstream and downstream of the industry chain with a focus on
property management. In doing so, the Group will ultimately evolve into
an integrated operator offering the whole-industry community services.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere thanks to
every shareholder, and also to every employee for their hard work and
contribution to the Group over last year. In the coming year, the Group
will continue its active expansion of business and enhance its property
management service quality, so as to bring a better, more enjoyable and
more satisfying experience for home life to residents. With the continuous
efforts of the Group, | believe that the Group will bring good returns to its
shareholders in the long term.

Liu Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

¥ For identification purpose only
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B9 =2

For the year ended
31 December

BZ12A31BLEEE

2023
2023 5F
RMB'000 Change
ARETIT #E)
Revenue Wz 1,778,998 1,709,642 4.1%
Gross profit EF 366,813 350,558 4.6%
Profit for the year F N A 92,126 83,972 9.7%
Profit attributable to owners B RRHEE AEERF
of the parent 88,896 80,054 11.0%
Gross profit margin (%) E T 2 (%) (0.1 pp)
20.6% 205% (0.1 1EE D 2h)
Net profit margin (%) HEF 2 (%) (03 pp)
5.2% 49% (03fEE D2
Basic earnings per share (RMB) BREXRBF(ARET) 0.104 0.094 11.0%
Final dividend per share (HKD) SRR E (BT) 0.025 0.025 =
FRIREEERLA 9
2024 F 3



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Revenue

g

(RMB million)

(NREBET)
17024 17096 1,779.0
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Profit attributable to owners of the company

ZNNTE PN SR

(RMB million)
(ARBBEET)
76.9 80.1 88.9
100 [ | 1
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40
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O | |
2022 2023 2024
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13221 12855 1,331.4

Gross profit and gross profit margin

EFRER=E
(RMB million/%)
(ANREEEBITL/ %)
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Total assets

EE®E
(RMB million)
(ARBBET)
1,957.1 2,067.3 1,940.2
2,500 ]
2,000
1,000
500
| |
O i i
2022 2023 2024

Total delivered contracted GFA
HERNEHNEEAE

(million sq.m.)

(B&FITK)
64.4 62.0 60.4
80 [ | -y [
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0 L | -
2022 2023 2024

*

excludes management fees for parking lots.

It is calculated as a weighted average of all the prices and fees specified on
the contracts that are generating revenue as of the end of each relevant year,

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Total equity
B
(RMB million)
(AR¥EBT)
986.9 1,032.7 1,097.9
1,200

1,000

800

600

400

200
0 | | A

2022 2023 2024

Average price of property management service*

YR EERBFIIER"

(RMB/sg.m./month)
(AR¥/FERXK/A)
1.81 1.85 1.88
20 o | | o -
1.5
1.0
0.5
O — L
2022 2023 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent property management company in
China. In 2024, the Group received the following recognitions and awards.

In July 2024, two subsidiaries of the Group — #T/ Tk X ¥ & A R
A A] (Zhejiang Yongcheng Property Management Company Limited®)
(‘Zhejiang Yongcheng Property’) and ERF B Y EEERFR A
7] (Guangdong Zhong Ao Property Management Company Limited*)
(‘Guangdong Zhong Ao’) received 2024 4F & 3#1 T & 4 2 IR 15 AAA AR
1B % (AAA-level Property Service Enterprise in Zhejiang Province in 2024%)
from 77T & F 5 13k 48 22 5% B2 (Zhejiang Provincial Department of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development®).

In August 2024, the Group received 2024 Bl B M X BB E ¥ 18
Eg — EREESSREEN (2024 China International Property
Management Industry Expo — Excellent Exhibitors of Guangdong
Pavilion*) from B R & ¥ % & 1217 ¥ % € (Guangdong Property
Management Industry Institute®) ("GDPMII").

In November 2024, Guangdong Zhong Ao received 4% & 1K &% &} 5 48

L7J7¥/\

= no e 18 & (Green Low — Carbon Enterprise Credit Demonstration

Certificate®) from 26 November 2024 to 25 November 2025 issued by /7 B4
&% KA 3B (5 58 75 12 % (China Green and Low-Carbon Integrity Certified
Enterprise®).

In December 2024, the Group received 2024 F[E ER L MEEE 1T
¥ 1@ & EE 8 (Best Member of Guangdong Property Management
Industry Association in 2024*) from GDPMII.

In December 2024, Guangdong Zhong Ao received the following
recognitions, namely, 2024 5 % 88 38 & & # %) 3 10 % (2024 Operational
Excellence Property Management Enterprise for New Media*) ~ 2023-
204 F EREWMEEIRITHE WS IR b 2 (Honestly Benchmark
Enterprise of Property Management Industry in Guangdong Province in
2023-2024%) ~ 2024 B R ) 1T 4R E B 116 2 (2024 Comprehensive
Strength Enterprise in Guangdong Property Industry*) »~ 2024 B 77 #-
G HLE B MY E D E (2024 Excellent Property Enterprise of Social
employment support*) and 2024 X /& [& %) % iR 7% & b8 & % (2024
Property Service Brand Enterprise in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area*) from GDPMII.

The Group's main business line is property management business. Under
the property management business line, the Group is engaged in the
provision of property management services, provision of cleaning and
greening services, and other services.

'I 2 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

The Group primarily provides property developers and property owners
with a broad range of property management services to mainly residential
properties, commercial and government buildings. Services provided
by the Group include standard property management services and also
ancillary services such as cleaning, gardening, property facilities repair and
maintenance and butler services. Through its butler services, the Group
provides personalised and premium property management services
to residents with its trained butlers onsite. While its primary and long-
term business focus is on the residential property market, the Group also
provides services to non-residential properties, including both stand-
alone non-residential properties and properties associated with residential
properties, such as schools and commercial buildings.

The Group believes that service quality is fundamental to establish a
solid foundation to support the growth of the Group's business. The
Group holds various qualifications and licenses in respect of property
management services, namely CMS31950, IEC27001, ISO50001, ISO 9001,
ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001.

As of 31 December 2024 , the Group had maintained its presence in 45
cities in China where it was delivered contracted to manage a total of
555 residential and non -residential properties such as commercial or
government buildings with an aggregate delivered contracted GFA of
approximately 60 million sg.m. This represents a decrease of approximately
3% compared to the delivered contracted GFA of approximately 62 million
sg.m as at 31 December 2023.

The Group strives to develop new business relationships from its existing
customer base and network in order to provide strong organic growth to
the Group. In addition to organic growth, the Group continues to identify
appropriate acquisition targets to strengthen its portfolio and increase
geographic presence across China.

GEOGRAPHIC PRESENCE

The Group will continue to strategically select markets to enter into, focus
on those with more developed economies and comparatively high per
capita GDP. Once the Group has established presence in a new city, it will
seek to expand its business within the same city or neighboring cities with
a view to maximising its economies of scale.

BB & am S D AT

Y 2 5 12 AR 7%

AEBXERYERRRAMEIRFARZNODE
EERY  EPARBOREEYE  BHALRA
BT - AEERHNRE S RIEENEE R RS
REERS - PIER  BEZE MERBHEER
REARERRE S - EBRERRE - AKE
REENHSERGREPREVABATEZ
BEMEBERE - ARENTIEZRRHEKE
HREEMENS  TERFETMREHRRSE
(BREEFEEMEREEDERBYE) - W0
BREBENE -

AEERE REEXDAETEREEEBRUSE
AEEEBRHEZEAZER - ASERYEESE
R EZEER RER o 5 ACMS31950
[EC27001 ~ 1SO50001 * ISO 9001 ~ 1SO 14001 ~ OHSAS
18001 °

R2024F 12 A31H - NEE#FE R B451(F
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ELSEEEDE (WEASBMET)  fE540E
LHEEANOBEF K - BH2023F12H31
HEXNAYWEERBHNEEF X  BIHL
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB 57w £

The map below illustrates the cities in which properties the Group was
delivered contracted to manage were located and the number of projects
in each city as of 31 December 2024.

axil

Eastern and Central China

ERNED

TEBBAR2024F12A3BAEEEXMETH
EENYEMERT R SMTNEEHE -

Eastern and Central China

ERNED

Southern China

£

Northern China

=314

Western China

=i

1. Changde (2) BEQ 10.  Macheng (1) R (1) 19.  Wenzhou (1) B (1)
2. Chengzhou (2  #8JH( 1. Nantong (11) FE(11) 20.  Wuxi(6) 45 (6)
3. Chongqing (1) EE() 12.  Ningbo (278) B2 (278) 21.  Xuancheng (3) T Q)
4. Chuzhou (1) SR (1) 13.  Quzhou (6) I (6) 22, Yixing 2) EH(2)
5. Hangzhou (57) LI (57) 14.  Shanghai (15) E&E@5) 23. Yueyang (1) &5 0)
6.  Heze (4) SATE (4) 15.  Shaoxing (7) 4B (7) 24, Zhengzhou (2) LN (2)
7. Huzhou (13) AN (13) 16.  Suzhou (35) #R )N (35) 25.  Zhenjiang (2) ST Q)
8. Jinan(1) R Q) 17.  Taizhou (1) B a) 26.  Zhoukou (1) AL )
9.  Kaifeng (1) FE (1) 18.  Wenchang (1) &) 27.  Zhouji (1) ()
28.  Cenxi(12) Z5Z(12) 33, Jiangmen (3) L9 (3) 38.  Sanya (6) =I5(6)
29.  Foshan (17) @1 7) 34, Kunming (1) ER) 39, Wuzhou (9) &I (9)
30.  Guangzhou ) B 35.  Laibin 3) REQ) 40.  Yunfu (1) EE()
31, Guilin (4) FEMR @) 36.  Nanning (18) 3 % (18) 41, Zhaoging (2) E1-10)
32, Heyuan (1) AR (1) 37.  Qingyuan (4) EIER (4)

42, Baotou (7) BLEE (7) 43.  Zhangjiakou (1) =RZR H (1)

44, Lhasa (1) hIFE (1) 45

Note:  Numbers in parentheses represent the number of delivered contracted projects.

SBARE ()
M ERAMBTRERMITHEARE -

Urumai (5)

*I 4 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The table below sets forth the delivered contracted GFA and the number
of properties under management as of the dates indicated.

As of 31 December 2024
720245 12H31H

BB & am S D AT

TREBIRARARZERNENEERELE
BEHYMEHRE -

As of 31 December 2023
R2023% 12 A31H

Sg.m. in Sg.m.in
thousands No. thousands No.
FEIK BB TEIK o
Residential and non-residential properties 1£ 5} IF(EFE ) %
Eastern and Central China® ERREAO 44,131 456 45,651 489
Southern China® o 14,629 85 14,469 83
Northern China® #ir0e 1,039 8 1371 9
Western China® EF© 555 6 542
Total wEt 60,354 555 62,033 585
Notes: M

Q)] Including Changde, Chengzhou, Chongging, Chuzhou, Hangzhou , Heze, Huzhou, Jinan,
Kaifeng, Macheng, Nantong , Ningbo , Quzhou, Shanghai , Shaoxing, Suzhou , Taizhou,
Wenchang, Wenzhou, Wuxi, Xuancheng, Yixing, Yueyang, Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang,
Zhoukou and Zhuiji.

) Including Cenxi , Foshan , Guangzhou, Guilin, Heyuan, Jiangmen, Kunming, Laibin,
Nanning , Qingyuan, Sanya, Wuzhou, Yunfu and Zhaoging.

(3) Including Baotou and Zhangjiakou.

(4) Including Lhasa and Urumqi.

CLEANING AND GREENING BUSINESS

The Group provides property developers and property owners with a series
of indoor and outdoor environmental cleaning, greening and maintenance
services. This business division also provides services to the property
developers and property owners of the property management business
division. Accordingly, segment results of the cleaning and greening division
is evaluated by the Group’s management on services as subcontracted
from the property management business division. The Group holds various
qualifications and licenses in respect of cleaning services, namely B 2% —
WIRE BB RIE % E G (National Level One Environmental Hygiene
Cleaning Service Qualification*), E315 FR 4} & 22 )i V8 YE AR 75 10 2 (E315
A Grade High-altitude Exterior Wall Cleaning Services Enterprise*), I1SO
14001, 150 9001 and 1SO 45001.

m BEEE MM ZE BN M SEE M A

B RE M BB ER BN B8 BE R
MeaM- X8 BN &G S8 EE F5 %
Mo ST AOREE -
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B BB BRI BN BEREBE-

3) BEBHEIERA -

(4) PRERNERSBARE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE R w0 AT

OTHER BUSINESSES

Other businesses comprise shuttle bus, security guard and maintenance
services in the PRC, engineering services related to elevators, engineering
services, the sale of engineering spare parts, canteen operations as well as
catering services, providing sales assistance services and consulting and
agency services to property developers and property owners.

PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

The Group will continue to maintain its own advantage as an independent
property management company and compete with counterparts in
the market by its high quality service and operational efficiency. The
Group will actively establish stable partnerships with leading property
developers and/or property management service providers in all regions
and explore potential projects under development. The Group will strive
to develop new business relationships from its existing customers base
and own network in order to provide strong organic growth to the Group.
The Group also targets to expand its portfolio of customers by pursuing
properties with established owners’ association. Furthermore, when right
opportunities arise, the Group will accelerate its expansion by expanding
its business scope and coverage in China by means of acquisitions and
cooperation.

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 1 August
2022 and 17 April 2023. Guangdong Zhong Ao had demanded 2 §5 (&
(Liang Xiwei*) ("Mr. Liang") from time to time to (i) pay the remaining
balance of the Option Price; and (i) complete the registration procedures
for mortgaging the remaining 183 Tianyu Garden Car Parking Spaces.
As Mr. Liang has not settled and completed the registration procedures
for mortgaging, this constituted a breach of the Second Supplemental
Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Guangdong Zhong Ao has commenced civil lawsuit and submitted a claim
(the “Claim”) against Mr. Liang to the People’s Court of Qingxiu District,
Nanning City, the PRC for, among others, (i) the remaining balance of the
Option Price of RMB20 million and all accrued interest; (i) penalties for
breach of contract; and (jii) an order that Guangdong Zhong Ao shall have
the right to be compensated in priority by the proceeds from the auction
or sale of the mortgaged properties (including a house and 227 Tianyu
Garden Car Parking Spaces). On 14 April 2023, Guangdong Zhong Ao has
received from the Court an acceptance notice in relation to the Claim. The
Company has received the judgment from the Court dated 17 April 2024
(the "Judgment”) and it was ordered by the Court that (i) Mr. Liang to pay
the outstanding Option Price adjudged by the Court in the amount of
RMB30,565,479.45 and the relevant interest amount (to be calculated based
on the Option Price in the amount of RMB20 million with interest rate of
10% per annum accruing from 1 April 2023 up to the date of full payment)
within 10 days after the effective date of the Judgment; (i) Mr. Liang to
pay the penalty (to be calculated based on the method determined by
the Court) within 10 days after the effective date of the Judgment; and (iii)
Guangdong Zhong Ao shall have the right to be compensated in priority
by the proceeds from the auction or sale of the mortgaged properties
(including a house and 227 Tianyu Garden Car Parking Spaces). On 31
May 2024, the Company received a written appeal dated 13 May 2024 by
Mr. Liang as the appellant against the Judgment. The appeal against the
Judgment by Mr. Liang was heard by the Intermediate People’s Court of
Nanning Municipality, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (& 78 At ik
BAEmmEE MR R ARZER) and on 30 October 2024, the Company
received the judgment dated 24 October 2024 from the Appeal Court
and it was ruled by the Appeal Court, among others, that (i) the appeal be
dismissed and the original Judgment be upheld; and (i) the relevant costs
for the appeal be borne by Mr. Liang. After the dismissal of the appeal, the
Company has applied to the court to mandatorily enforce the Judgment
against Mr. Liang (the “Enforcement Application”). On 3 April 2025,
the Company was informed by the People’s Court of Liangging District,
Nanning City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region that the Enforcement
Application was accepted and the Company will proceed with the
enforcement of the Judgement against the First Vendor accordingly. For
further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
18 August 2021, 22 October 2021, 31 January 2022, 1 August 2022, 17 April
2023, 29 April 2024, 3 June 2024, 30 October 2024 and 7 April 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE R w0 AT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW B 75 3k 35 Bl 8
Revenue Uk &5

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded revenue of ~ B ZE2024F 12 A31 B IEFE - AEB B K
approximately RMB1,779.0 million, representing an increase of 4.1% over I AR 17790 B & 7T + #2023 FH h14.1% ©
the year 2023.

Increase in the Group’s revenue was primarily attributable to the AEBEWZENFEFEHENMETIE XK EHE
increase in property management business revenue from approximately £ 2023F 12 A31 Bt FEH AR 128558 &
RMB1,285.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately ~ JTIEMEH Z204F 12 A3 B EFEHARE
RMB1,331.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 and represented 11,3314 B & JT * 8 2= F R HI G AN #93.6% © 1th5h

approximately 3.6% increase over the corresponding year. In addition, ANEEEE B RAR(L ERBHURE NG AR 26
the Group's revenue generated from cleaning and greening business  H & 708k 8.6% * H ith E WL E K AR E 09
has increased by approximately RMB22.6 million or 8.6% and from other B & L3 0.6% °

businesses has increased by approximately RMBO0.9 million or 0.6%.

Breakdown of revenue by business line and services RER R AR 82 B9 Y 2 B AR

For the year ended
31 December

HZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023 Change
2024 F 2023 £ o)

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 %
AR®TR ARBTRT ARKETTT %
Property management business MEEBRER 1,331,362 1,285,503 45,859 36
Cleaning and greening business BB KA E 286,016 263,440 22,576 86
Other businesses E fh 275 161,620 160,699 921 06
1,778,998 1,709,642 69,356 41
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT BUSINESS

The Group's property management business includes the provision of
property management services, cleaning and greening services and other
services. Details of analysis of each service are as follows:

Property management services

Revenue from property management services increased by approximately
RMB45.9 million or 3.6% over 2023 primarily due to increase in weighted
average price of property management services during 2024.

Cleaning and greening business

Revenue from cleaning and greening business for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB286.0 million, comparing to
RMB263.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing
an increase of approximately RMB22.6 million or 8.6%. The increase was
primarily due to development in new projects.

Other businesses

Revenue from other businesses increased from approximately RMB160.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB161.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The increase of
approximately RMB0.9 million or 0.6% over the year was mainly due to
development in security guard services.

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES

The Group's cost of sales and services primarily comprises (i) sub-
contracting costs, representing the expenses paid to sub-contractors
for various services under the property management services and sales
assistance services; (ii) staff costs; (iii) depreciation expenses associated
with equipment and property used in providing services; (iv) costs of other
services and sale of goods such as salaries cost of the technicians in the
provision of elevator engineering services and weak-current engineering
services; costs of the spare parts sold and operating costs in running the
catering services and (v) costs of cleaning and greening products and
utensils as well as commission paid for the real estate and property agency
services.

Cost of sales and services increased by 3.9% from approximately
RMB1,359.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB1,412.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Increase in cost
of sales and services was due primarily to the growth of the corresponding
revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE R w0 AT

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN EFMREFE
The tables below sets forth the Group's gross profit and gross profit margin -~ 3R &85l N & B R TR FEIZREE D EF K
by services for the years indicated: FEF|E

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEFE

2024 2023

2024 F 2023
% of % of
RMB’000 revenue RMB'000 revenue
ARET HhzE% ARBTIT 1 W55 %
Property management business MEEBRED 318,245 23.9 308,540 240
Cleaning and greening business BRARECER 31,903 11.2 26,346 10.0
Other businesses HEMER 16,665 10.3 15,672 9.8
Overall ~eg 366,813 20.6 350,558 20.5

The Group's gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately RMB366.8 million, comparing to approximately RMB350.6
million in 2023, representing an increase of approximately RMB16.3 million,
or 4.6%. The Group's gross profit margin increased slightly from 20.5% for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to 20.6% in 2024.

OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

The Group's other income and gain for the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately RMB41.5 million, comparing to approximately RMB49.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB7.8 million or 15.8%. The decrease was primarily due to
decrease in government grants and rental income.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group's selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31
December 2024 were approximately RMB7.3 million, comparing to
approximately RMB6.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which
represented an increase of approximately RMBO0.8 million. The increase was
primarily due to increase in marketing expenses for development in new
projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately RMB206.5 million, comparing to approximately
RMB192.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, represented
an increase of approximately RMB14.1 million or 7.3% which was mainly
due to the increase in administrative expenses brought by the growth in
business revenue. For long term control issue, the Group will continue to
strengthen the streamlining of organisation and control of administrative
costs for controlling better administrative expenses.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED ON
FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group's net impairment losses on financial assets were approximately
RMB41.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, comparing to
net impairment losses on financial assets of approximately RMB58.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB17.6 million which was primarily due to decrement in
trade receivables and other receivables.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's net finance costs amounted to approximately RMB2.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 comparing to net finance costs
for the year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately RMB3.4 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB1.0 million or 29.9%. The
decrement was primarily due to decrease in bank borrowings.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Certain investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases.

These operating lease do not have “significant impact” as defined under
Rule 14.04(1) (d) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and hence is
exempt from the requirements under chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE R w0 AT

TRADE RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December 2024, total trade receivables of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB505.9 million, representing decrease of approximately
RMB32.4 million or 6% compared to approximately RMB538.3 million as at
31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily due to strengthen on the
assessment, management and control of repayment to improve the rate of
repayment.

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Prepayments and other receivables mainly represent payment on behalf of
customers for expenditure on communities’ facilities, performance bonds,
bidding deposit for contracts, business-related prepayments and advance
to other independent third parties. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's
prepayments and other receivables amounted to approximately RMB248.8
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB68.2 million or 21.5%
compared to approximately RMB317.0 million as at 31 December 2023. The
decrease was primarily due to less prepayment made for and on behalf of
customers to utility suppliers and less deposits paid to utility suppliers.

Other receivables included RMB14.1 million (31 December 2023: RMB14.2
million) advanced to three independent third parties for business purpose.
The loans were unsecured, and interest-free (except for one secured loan
bearing interest at 7% per annum). Impairment provision of RMB4.4 million
is required for these loans as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
RMBO0.8 million).

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables and accruals primarily comprise receipts on behalf of
community residents for utilities, receipts in advances, accruals, deposits
received and other payables. Other payables and accruals decreased from
approximately RMB702.7 million at 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB539.7 million as at 31 December 2024. The decrease in the amount of
approximately RMB163 million was due to ameliorate of high-risk contract
liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group maintains a strong and healthy financial position. The
Group's principal sources of funds to finance the working capital, capital
expenditure and other capital requirements were internally generated by
cash flows and bank loans. As at 31 December 2024, net working capital
(calculated as current assets less current liabilities) was approximately
RMB505.9 million, representing an increase of RMB107.2 million from
RMB398.7 million as at 31 December 2023. The current ratio (calculated
as current assets/current liabilities) was 1.6 times as at 31 December 2024
(2023: 1.4 times).

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group’s borrowings
were denominated in RMB. The bank borrowing balances of the Group
bore interest at fixed rates at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at
fixed rates approximate to their fair values.

The Group principally focused on the operation in the PRC. Except for
the cash, bank deposits and bank borrowings denominated in foreign
currencies, the Group was not subject to any other material risk directly
relating to the foreign exchange fluctuation. For the year ended 31
December 2024, despite the depreciation of RMB against USD and HKD,
the Directors expected that fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate would
not materially and adversely affect the operations of the Group. The
management will continue to monitor foreign currency exchange exposure
and will take prudent measures to minimise the currency translation risk.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is defined as total borrowings add amounts due to non-
controlling equity holders of a subsidiary and net of bank balances and
cash divided by total equity. As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in a
strong financial position with a net cash position amounting to RMB496.2
million (2023: RMB479.2 million). Accordingly, no gearing ratio is presented.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE R w0 AT

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2024, investment properties and property and equipment
of RMB95.0 million (2023: RMB99.0 million) were pledged to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

PROFIT GUARANTEE

The Board has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of
Guangdong Huaui Environmental Engineering Company Limited for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 and is pleased to confirm that
profit guarantee of consolidated net profit after tax not less than RMB13
million was met.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 9,351(2023: 8,521)
employees. In order to enhance the morale and productivity of employees,
employees are remunerated based on their performance, experience and
prevailing industry practices. Compensation policies and packages of
management staff and functional heads are being reviewed on a yearly
basis. In addition to basic salary, performance related salary may also
be awarded to employees based on internal performance evaluation.
Moreover, the Company has adopted a share award scheme in June 2017
in order to retain elite personnel to stay with the Group and to provide
incentives for their contribution to the Group.

The Group also invests in continuing education and training programmes
for management staff and other employees with a view to upgrade their
skills and knowledge. These training courses comprise internal courses
run by the management of the Group and external courses provided
by professional trainers and range from technical training for butlers to
financial and administrative trainings for management staff.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company in respect of
grant of awarded shares between 6 July 2017 and 15 January 2019 and in
respect of adoption of share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
dated 20 June 2017.

The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are to recognise
the contributions by certain employees of the Group and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

The Board may select any Eligible Person (other than Excluded Person) for
participation in the Share Award Scheme and determine the number of
the Awarded Shares to be awarded to the Selected Persons. The Board is
entitled to impose any conditions (including a period of continued service
within the Group after the Reference Date), as it deems appropriate with
respect to the entitlement of the Selected Person to the Awarded Shares.

The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a Selected
Person under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date. Based on
the 794,172,000 Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, the maximum
entitlement of each Selected Person under the Share Award Scheme
would be 7,941,720 Shares at nominal value. No amount is payable on the
acceptable of an award.

Any Awarded Shares and the related income thereof held in the Account
or by the Trustee and which are referable to a Selected Person shall vest in
that Selected Person in accordance with the timetable and conditions as
imposed by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided that the Selected
Person remains at all times after the Reference Date and on the relevant
Vesting Date(s) an Eligible Person of the Group.

No Awarded Shares were granted by the Company during the year ended
1 December 2024. As 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and the date of

this annual report, 375,160 Shares were available for issue under the Share

Award Scheme, representing approximately 0.04% of the issued Shares.

Subject to any early termination as may be terminated by the Board, the
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten (1
commencing on the Adoption Date and shall expire on 19 June 2027.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE R w0 AT

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES OR ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associates during the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no specific plan for major
investment or acquisition for major capital assets or other business.
However, the Group will continue to identify new opportunities for
business development.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 March 2025, the Directors resolved to recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HKD2.5 cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HKD2.5 cents) to the shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 12 June 2025. Subject to
the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM"), the final dividend is
expected to be payable on or about 10 July 2025. The aggregate amount
shall be paid out of the Company’s share premium account if the payment
of the dividend is approved by the shareholders at the AGM.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DIRECTORS
MR. LIU JIAN

Chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Liu Jian, aged 57, is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company and was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
on 5 January 2015. Being one of the first members of the Group, Mr. Liu
founded Guangdong Zhong Ao Property Management Company Limited
("Guangdong Zhong Ao") with Ms. Chen Zhuo in September 2005.
Mr. Liu was appointed as the sole director of Guangdong Zhong Ao in
September 2005 and has been primarily responsible for overall operation
and management, strategic planning and business development. Mr. Liu
plays a key role in the Group's business development and has led its business
expansion from Guangdong province to other parts of China. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Liu worked at Guilin Park Hotel Co., Ltd. (15 #K 4E 3 8% /&
A BR A A]) from May 1990 to August 1994 and his last position held was
manager. From September 1994 to March 1999, he worked at Guilin Royal
Gardens Hotel Co,, Ltd. (£ A # %28 J& £ IR 2 &) and his last position
held was manager. From 1999 to December 2003, Mr. Liu served as general
manager of Guangzhou Olympic Garden Property Company (/& /1 8 #k
T 7% fEE ¥ % 22 5]) and from February 2004 to June 2005, as general
manager of Nanguo Aoyuan Property Company (2 B B & ¥ 2 A &)),
both companies being subsidiaries of Guangdong Yabo Property Service
Company Limited (&R &4 2% AR 7% 5 IR A &) (‘Guangdong Yabo").
In 2008, Mr. Liu attained a master's degree in business administration from
Asia International Open University (Macau).

MS. CHEN ZHUO

Executive Director and vice president

Ms. Chen Zhuo, aged 47, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015. Ms.
Chen joined the Group as vice president when Guangdong Zhong Ao was
established in September 2005. As a founder and a member of the core
management team of the Group, she has been primarily responsible for
financial management, strategic planning and business development. Ms.
Chen served as deputy general manager of Guangdong Yabo from August
2002 to March 2005. Ms. Chen received a college degree from Sun Yat-sen
University (AP LU A 22) in 1999, majoring in business management. Ms. Chen
obtained the qualification of a property management manager in 2000 from
the Ministry of Construction of the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EELEREEEB™HN

MR. LIANG BING

Executive Director and vice president

Mr. Liang Bing, aged 53, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015. Mr.
Liang joined the Group as vice president in September 2005. As a member
of the Group's core management team, he has been primarily responsible
for overall operation and management, strategic planning and business
development. Mr. Liang served as deputy general manager of Guangdong
Yabo from May 2002 to June 2005. Mr. Liang graduated and attained a
bachelor's degree in environmental engineering from Hunan University
(81 5 K 2) located in Hunan, the PRC in July 1996. He later obtained a
master's degree in business administration for senior management from
Sun Yat-sen University (F7 [L K ) in 2013. In July 2022, Mr. Liang was
elected as an executive vice president of Guangdong Province Property
Management Industry Institute in the sixth member and council meeting.
In September 2023, Mr. Liang was awarded 2013-2023 E R & ¥ £ & 12
TR T EIE (2013-2023 Contributor to the Development of Property
Management Industry in Guangdong Province*). In January 2024, he
was awarded 2023 B2 E ) ¥ B 58 F /B E A Y (2023 Annual Leader
of the Top 100 Blue Chip Properties*) from #% % Ef 22 ¥ (The Economic
Observer*).

MR. LONG WEIMIN

Executive Director and vice president

Mr. Long Weimin, aged 62, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 5 January 2015.
Mr. Long joined the Group as vice president in June 2008. As a member
of the Group's core management team, he has been primarily responsible
for overall operation and management, strategic planning and business
development. Mr. Long has 14 years of experience in the hospitality
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Long served as a deputy general
manager at Guangxi Nanning Fenghuang Lodge (B i @ 2 B B &
£8) from November 2001 to January 2004, as a deputy general manager
at Purui Hotspring Hotel (& ¥ /& 5 B J&) from 2003 to 2007 and as a
general manager at Luoyang Mudou International Hotel Co. Ltd. (& &
£H #B B PR &R JE A BR 2 A)) from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Long graduated and
attained a diploma from Guangxi Radio and TV University (& P8 & B B 48
RE)in 1982.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

MS. JIN KELI

Non-executive Director

Ms. Jin Keli, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company since 17 July 2020. She has been the chief executive officer and
executive Director of Greentown Service Group Co.Ltd. (“Greentown
Service’), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2869) since 21 June 2021 and 1 February 2022, respectively. She
is responsible for management work in relation to the overall operation of
Greentown Service. Ms. Jin joined the Greentown Property Service Group
Co, Ltd. (5 M 3% R 75 5 B A BR 22 7)) (‘Greentown Property”) in May
2006 and held various positions in the Greentown Property Management,
including the administrative director of the Administrative Management
Center from January 2012 to January 2014, the assistant president from
February 2015 to July 2017, the vice president from August 2017 to March
2018 and the president since March 2018, respectively. Ms. Jin served as
the chief operating officer and the chief financial officer of Greentown
Service from March 2018 to February 2022 and June 2021 to February 2022,
respectively.

Ms. Jin graduated from China University of Political Science and Law in July
2006 with a bachelor's degree majoring in philosophy, and obtained her
MBA degree from China Europe International Business School (9 B B4 B8
T 2Bt ) in Novenber 2018.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EELEREEEB™HN

MS. XU YAPING

Non-executive Director

Ms. Xu Yaping, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive director on 10
July 2023. Ms. Xu graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a master's degree in international real estate in 2018. She has extensive
experiences in property service, real estate and marketing industry in the
People’s Republic of China. She has joined Greentown Property (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Greentown Services Group Co. Ltd.* (4% % AR 75 &
B BR A 7)) (@ company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2869)) since 1998 and has held various positions in
several of its subsidiaries. From January 2013 to May 2022, she served as
the general manager of Greentown Real Estate Consulting Group Co.,, Ltd.*
(B B E AL E AR A A . From August 2017 to present, she is
concurrently serving as the vice president and the chief marketing officer
of Greentown Service Group Co. Ltd* (4 RS E B AR A &) . She
obtained the construction engineer qualification certificate issued by Zhuji
Personnel Bureau in September 2008 and the certified property manager
qualification certificate issued by Zhejiang Provincial Department of Human
Resources and Social Security in May 2011.

MR. CHAN WAI CHEUNG, ADMIRAL

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, aged 51, joined the Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
on 31 May 2017. Mr. Admiral Chan holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Admiral Chan is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
extensive experience in accounting and auditing fields. Mr. Admiral Chan is
an executive director of Energy International Investments Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
353). He was an independent non-executive director of SFund International
Holdings Limited, a company previously listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1367), from November 2016 to August 2022,
and an independent non-executive director of China Water Affairs Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 855), from January 2020 to November 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

MR. CHAN KA LEUNG KEVIN

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin, aged 56, joined the Company and was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 31 May
2017. Mr. Kevin Chan, holds a bachelor of science degree in accounting
and a master of science degree from the University of lllinois of the United
States of America. Mr. Kevin Chan has extensive experience in corporate
finance. He has been a responsible officer of a corporation licensed under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) to conduct type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity until 18 June 2023, Mr. Kevin Chan was an independent
non-executive director of Greens Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1318) from 8 January 2015
to 12 November 2015. He was an independent non-executive director of
S&S Intervalue China Limited, the shares of which are listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8506), from 18 January 2021 to 30 June
2022 and Teamway International Group Holdings Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1239) since 21 June 2019 to 31 December 2022.

MR. YIN WEIZHONG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Yin Weizhong, aged 58, joined the Company and was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1 July 2023.
Mr. Yin graduated from Nanjing Agricultural University with a master’s
degree in agriculture in 1994. He has extensive experiences in marketing,
management and teaching in the PRC. He has been the general manager
of Guangzhou Yingte Marketing Planning Co., Ltd* (& M & 45 & §4 %
1B BR A A)) since 2016, and is fully responsible for the operation of the
company, including the promotion of its marketing consulting business
to different mass consumer goods enterprises, as well as agricultural and
animal husbandry enterprises. From 2008 to 2016, he had been the dean
of the business school of Guangdong Lingnan Vocational and Technical
College* (/& % %8 R B 25 B T 22 B ) and was fully responsible for the
teaching and research work of the college. Prior to that, Mr. Yin had also
worked for other enterprises and universities in the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR. CHAN KONG

Vice president

Mr. Chan Kong, aged 75, joined the Group as a vice president in April 2008.
Prior to joining the Group, he served as an executive housekeeper at Guilin
Riverside Resort, China (/& 52 & £R) from February 1987 to February 1988.
From February 1988 to January 2002, Mr. Chan worked with Macau CTS Hotel
Management (International) Limited (J& P9 /R ik (B B%) B /& E B F R
A A]). He joined as a project coordinator in 1988 and was later assigned
by a secondment to Hotel Universal Guilin in the capacity of an executive
housekeeper. He was subsequently promoted and served as general manager
of Hotel Universal Guilin and general manager of Hotel Metropole, Macau (J&
PR EBIE S5 ) and Xian Eastern Haojing Hotel (78 %2 B2 77 3% 32 B & ). From
2003 to 2004, he served as a general manager at Man Wah Dongguan Hotel (52
SEXEBIE).

MS. XIANG YAN

Assistant to CEO

Ms. Xiang Yan, aged 39, joined the Group in October 2005. She is currently
the Assistant to CEO of the Group. Ms. Xiang graduated from Jinan
University (2 A28 ) and obtained a diploma in property management.

MR. KWONG LUN KElI, VICTOR

Company secretary

Mr. Kwong Lun Kei, Victor, aged 43, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Group. Mr. Kwong is a practicing solicitor and was admitted
as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2010. He obtained his Bachelor of Laws and
Bachelor of Commerce from University of New South Wales, Australia in
2007. He has over ten (10) years of experience in corporate finance and
primarily advises on listings of companies on the Stock Exchange, mergers
and acquisitions, regulatory compliance and other commercial law matters.
Mr. Kwong was the company secretary of Brainhole Technology Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2203) since 1 April 2020 to 31 August 2023. He is one of the joint company
secretaries of Sterling Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1825) since 1 February 2022
to 31 December 2024. He has been the company secretary of Hong Wei
(Asia) Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on GEM (stock code:
8191) since 30 September 2022.

*  For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board ("“Board") of directors (“Directors”) of the Company is pleased
to present this corporate governance report for the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining and upholding high standards
of corporate governance of the Company to ensure that formal and
transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximise the interests
of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of the Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) as its code of
corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board is of the view that the
Company has complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code in
force during the reporting period save and except for the following code
provisions:

Code Provision C.2.1 of Part 2 — Principle of good corporate governance
code provisions and recommended best practices of the CG Code requires
that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company has
appointed Mr. Liu Jian as both the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of the chairman
and chief executive officer in the same individual would enable the
Company to achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and effectiveness
when formulating business strategies and executing business plans. The
Board believes that the balance of power and authority is sufficiently
maintained by the operation of the senior management and Board, which
comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently
comprises four executive directors (including Mr. Liu Jian), two non-
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors and
therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its composition.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its code of conduct for Directors in their dealings in the

Company's securities. Having made specific enquiry to all the Directors, all

the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard

of dealings as set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December

2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and

oversees the Group's businesses.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance

duties as set out below:

(i)

34

To develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

To review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
Directors and employees; and

To review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Board composition

The Board currently comprises a combination of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. There is a strong independent element on the
Board, to ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board's
decision making process as well as the thoroughness and impartiality
of the Board's oversight of the management.
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(ii)

The Board possesses, both as individual Directors and collectively,
appropriate experience, competencies and personal qualities,
including professionalism and integrity, to discharge its
responsibilities adequately and effectively. In addition, the Board
collectively has adequate knowledge and expertise relevant to each
of the material business activities that the Company pursues and
the associated risks in order to ensure effective governance and
oversight.

Members of the Board, who come from a variety of different
backgrounds, have a diverse range of business, professional
expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this Annual
Report.

The Board members have no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships) with each
other.

The Board of the Company currently comprises of the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jin Keli
Ms. Xu Yaping

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

Mr. Yin Weizhong

Board meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2024, eight Board meetings
were held. Prior notices convening the Board meetings were
despatched to the Directors setting out the matters to be discussed.
At the meetings, the Directors were provided with the relevant
documents to be discussed and approved. The company secretary is
responsible for keeping minutes for the Board meetings.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Responsibilities of the Board and management

The executive Directors, with the assistance from the senior
management, form the core management team of the Company.
The executive Directors have the overall responsibility for
formulating the business strategies and development plan of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) and the
senior management personnel are responsible for supervising and
executing the plans of the Group.

Independence of independent non-executive
Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board considers that all independent non-
executive Directors have appropriate and sufficient diversity, industry
or finance experience and qualifications to carry out their duties so as
to protect the interests of the Shareholders. One of the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the independent
non-executive Directors has submitted a written statement to the
Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has undertaken
to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there is
any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence. In addition, the Company has also received a written
confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors
in respect of their independence. Based on such confirmations, the
Board considers that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Induction for Director and continuous professional
development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he or she has a proper understanding
of the Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his or her
responsibilities under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company also provides Directors with regular updates on
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The
Directors are also provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties.
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Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time
updated and provided written training materials relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, each Director, namely
Mr. Liu Jian, Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing, Mr. Long Weimin,
Ms. Jin Keli, Ms. Xu Yaping, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, Mr.
Chan Ka Leung, Kevin and Mr. Yin Weizhong, has participated in
continuous professional development by reading relevant materials
on regulatory requirements and/or attending training sessions or
seminars organised by the Company or externally.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman and chief executive officer are two key aspects of the
management of a company. Chairman is responsible for providing
leadership for the board and management of the board while chief
executive officer is responsible for day-to-day management of business.
Clear division of these responsibilities should be in place to ensure a
balance power and authority. The code provision C.2.1 of CG Code which
provides that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

During the year, Mr. Liu Jian (“Mr. Liu") is the chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company. This constitutes a deviation from the code
provision C.2.1 of CG Code.

The Company considers that having Mr. Liu acting as both the chairman
and chief executive officer will provide a strong and consistent leadership
to the Group and allow for more effective strategic planning and
management of the Group. Further, in view of Mr. Liu’s experience in the
industry, personal profile and role in the Group and historical development
of the Group, the Group considers it is to the benefit of the Group in the
business prospects that Mr. Liu continues to act as both the chairman and
chief executive officer after the Listing. Therefore, the Company currently
has no intention to separate the functions of chairman and chief executive
officer.
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Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee on 5 November 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rule and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The audit committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, Mr.
Chan Ka Leung, Kevin and Mr. Yin Weizhong, all being independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral is the chairman of
the audit committee with the appropriate professional qualifications.
The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control system of the Group,
oversee the audit process and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, four audit committee meetings
were held and the individual attendance of each Director is set out in the
section "Directors’ Attendance Records At Meetings”.

At the meetings, the members of audit committee principally reviewed
and discussed with the external auditor of the Company about the Group’s
annual results and audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023, the interim review scope and process for the
Group's result for the six months ended 30 June 2024, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and audit scope and process for the
Group's annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024 and reviewed
the effectiveness of the risk management and assessment, financial
reporting process and internal control system, respectively.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee on 5 November
2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of
the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
remuneration committee three members, namely Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin,
Ms. Chen Zhuo and Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral. Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin
is the chairman of the remuneration committee. The primary duties of the
remuneration committee are to establish and review the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management and approve
recommendations on management remuneration.

The remuneration committee meets to determine the policy for the
remuneration of Directors and assess the performance of executive
Directors and approving the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts. In determining the remuneration for Directors, the remuneration
committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one remuneration committee
meetings were held and the individual attendance of each Director is set
out in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At Meetings”.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee on 5 November
2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The nomination committee has three
members, namely Mr. Liu Jian, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral and Mr. Chan
Ka Leung, Kevin. Mr. Liu Jian is the chairman of the nomination committee.
The primary duties of the nomination committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one nomination committee
meeting was held and the individual attendance of each Director is set out
in the section "Directors’ Attendance Records At Meetings”.
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NOMINATION POLICY

40

Objective

1.1

The nomination policy sets out the approach and procedures
the Board adopts for the nomination and selection of
Directors, including the appointment of additional Directors,
replacement of Directors, and re-election of Directors.

Policy Statement

2.1

2.2

The Company recognises the importance of having a qualified
and competent Board to achieve the Group corporate strategy
as well as promote shareholder value.

The Company believes that a Board that possesses a balance
of skill set, experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives
enhances decision-making capability and the overall
effectiveness of the Board. The Board is committed to ensuring
that proper nomination and election processes are in place for
the selection and nomination of Directors.

Selection Criteria

3.1

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate,
the nomination committee shall consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age, culture,
ethnicity and gender diversity. The nomination committee
shall consider the following selection criteria and such other
factors that it may consider appropriate for a position on the
Board:

()  Attributes Complementary to the Board: The
candidate should possess attributes that complement
and expand the skill set, experience and expertise of the
Board as a whole, having regard to the current structure,
size, diversity profile and skills matrix of the Board and
the needs of the Board.

(i) Business Experience & Board Expertise and Skills:
The candidate should have the ability to exercise
sound business judgment and also possess proven
achievement and experience in directorship including
effective oversight of and guidance to management.
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(i) Availability: The candidate should have sufficient time
for the proper discharge of the duties of a Director,
including devoting adequate time for the preparation
and participation in meetings, training and other Board
or Company associated activities.

(iv)  Motivation: The candidate should be self-motivated
and have a strong interest in the Company's businesses.

(v) Integrity: The candidate should be a person of
integrity, honesty, good repute and high professional
standing.

(vii Independence: Independent non-executive
Director candidates must satisfy the independence
requirements under the Listing Rules. The candidate
shall be independent in character and judgement and
be able to represent and act in the best interests of all
Shareholders.

The above criteria are for reference only and are not meant
to be exhaustive or decisive. The Board shall take into
consideration the benefits of a diversified Board when
selecting Board candidates.

IV. Nomination Procedures

4.1 Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

(i) If the Board determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, it will deploy multiple
channels for identifying suitable director candidates,
including referral from Directors, shareholders,
management, advisors of the Company and external
executive search firms.

(i) Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the nomination committee will shortlist
candidates for consideration by the Board based on
the selection criteria and such other factors that it
considers appropriate. The Board has the final authority
on determining suitable director candidate for
appointment.
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4.2 Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

(i) Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election, the Board shall consider and, if consider
appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. A circular
containing the requisite information on such retiring
Director will be sent to shareholders prior to a general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(i) Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand
for election as a Director at a general meeting in
accordance with the "Procedures for shareholders
to propose a person for election as a director of the
Company” published by the Company from time to
time.

V. Review and Monitoring

51  The Board will from time to time review this Policy and
monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element
in maintaining an effective Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with an aim to promote
broad experience and diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

The Board has reviewed, through the nomination committee, the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board as well as the nomination and
appointment procedure of Directors during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS EZEREZ M HEL %
The attendance records of each Director at various meetings held during TR EHI S EFTRE E204F 124318 ILFE

the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the table below: NATRITEIER RN HE ik
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee Board

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM
Name ERERS yHEES REZEE BExg B3R
=1 28 28 23 23 BFEKRE
Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman) N/A N/A 1/1 8/8 11
BIRE S () i i
Ms. Chen Zhuo N/A 11 N/A 8/8 11
PRE 2+ T i@ A
Mr. Liang Bing N/A N/A N/A 8/8 11
REKE i A i A i A
Mr. Long Weimin N/A N/A N/A 8/8 11
ERELE N E A N E A A iE A
Ms. Jin Keli N/A N/A N/A 8/8 1/1
eRBERT T T iE A i@ A
Ms. Xu Yaping N/A N/A N/A 8/8 11
Rt A E A T E A i A
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral 4/4 11 11 8/8 11
REELLE
Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin 4/4 11 11 8/8 11
RRREE
Mr. Yin Weizhong 4/4 N/A N/A 8/8 11
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total fees paid/payable in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited are set out below:

B &

HE204F1N2A3BLEFEE  BBEEGSTAIE
HHTER AR AAEERHEZEMIIEZERED
/B E B RBAEH T

RMB’000
AR¥T T
Type of services: REER :
Audit services EZRTE
Audit of the annual consolidated financial statements ERFESEEUMEHmE 1,700
1,700

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the
accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and the management will provide information and explanation to
the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of the financial and
other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company’s independent external auditor, HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, about their reporting responsibilities is
included in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, Board and Board
committees by developing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. Mr. Kwong Lun Kei Victor of CLKW Lawyers LLP, an external
service provider, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company.
The biographical details of Mr. Kwong are set out in the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is accountable for overseeing the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing its effectiveness, while the
management and other personnel are responsible for implementing
and maintaining the internal controls systems that covers governance,
compliance, risk management, financial and operational controls to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’ interests. The system is
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has
conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems. The following is the
summary of the Internal Control and Risk Management Report.

This report summarises our assessment and procedures for the
Company'’s risk management, and its internal control is considered
to be sufficient and at low risk. This report also aims to assist the
Company to recognise its internal control weakness in relevant
financial procedures, systems and internal controls area.

Our assessment commencing from assessing the over compliance
system and risk management control, the financial reporting and
disclosure control, and the operating controls of the Company.
Approaches include interviews with management, reviewing on
relevant documents, walkthroughs of processes, tests on selected
operating samples, and a follow-up assessment after implementation
of recommendation on internal control issues.

We have performed annual enquiries, reviewed of company’s
documents, and on-site inspection to identify and understand the
extent of the risks. The Board of Directors has full responsibility to set up
a strategy when designing a system of internal controls that eliminate
risk and achieve business objectives. In our findings, an Internal Control
and Risk Management basic framework is established and it consists of
effectiveness and efficiency of operation; reliability of financial reporting;
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. An Operation
Manual is also imposed for employees to comply with applicable laws
and all in-house procedures and practices.

On an annual basis, the department heads review and update their
risk registers; discussion sessions are then led by the Chief Executive.
Control activities are built on top-level reviews, segregation of duties
and physical controls by documenting all control process in policies
and procedures to limit delegation of authority, identifying the material
risks, planning the action items, and finalizing the budget and business
objectives through variance analyses. The company secretary and legal
advisor are also responsible to review adherence to the laws, while
the Board is responsible to delegate roles and authorities to the Board
members and senior management and ensure they understand them.

For employee risk management, the Code of Conduct and Business
Ethics are set out; training sessions are regularly held to reiterate the
Company's zero tolerance approach to bribery and proper business
ethics.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has an internal audit department which consists of 2 employees to
monitor the daily operations of the Group. Besides, the Company
also appointed an internal control advisor (the “IC Advisor”) to
perform internal audit for the Group during the financial year ended
31 December 2024. The IC Advisor reported to the audit committee
and to the Company’s management. The IC Advisor conducted its
internal audit review activities according to the endorsed internal
audit plan during the financial year ended 31 December 2024. The IC
Advisor reported the internal audit findings and recommendations
to both the audit committee and the management of the Group.
The management of the Group agreed on the internal audit findings
and adopted the recommendations by the IC Advisor accordingly.

Management’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforementioned paragraphs,
the management of the Group had provided a confirmation to the
Board that the Group had maintained an effective risk management
mechanism and internal control system during the financial year
ended 31 December 2024.

No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, internal audit, risk management
and internal controls functions of the Group were identified. There
is no material weakness in the internal control of the Company
identified.

The Board and the audit committee, continue to evaluate the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in
the Group's accounting and financial reporting and internal audit
functions, as well as that function’s training programs and budget.
Based on its annual review, the Board and the audit committee are
not aware of any material deficiencies in the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control for the year ended 31 December
2024 and consider them effective and adequate.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM")
and putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of the requisition the Board fail to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

The annual report and the Company's website provide the contact details
of the Company. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing. Shareholders may also make enquiries
with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to put forward proposals
at the general meeting under the Cayman Islands Company Laws or
the articles of association of the Company. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph to convene an EGM for any
business specified in such written requisition.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to maintain a high level of transparency in
communicating with shareholders and investors through diversified
communication channels, including (i) printed copies of corporate
communications (including but not limited to annual reports, interim
reports, notice of meetings, circulars and proxy forms) required
under the Listing Rules, and shareholders can choose to receive such
documents using electronic means through the Company’s website
(www.gdzawy.com); (i) the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders to raise questions with the Board: (iii) the Company’s website
contains the announcements, latest data and information of the Group, so
that the shareholders and investors can access and inspect the information
of the Company in a timely manner; and (iv) analyse briefings are arranged
from time to time to update shareholders and investors on the Group's
performance.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Information on Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are as follow:

With effect from 1 January 2025, Mr. Liu Jian, Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang
Bing and Mr. Long Weimin are entitled to a yearly performance bonus in
the amount of RMB1.0 million, RMB1.5 million, RMB2.5 million and RMB2.5
million respectively (collectively, the “Performance Bonus”) subject to
the conditions that (a) the aggregated annual net profit of J#7 )T 5k B #7
¥ IR B R A 7 (‘Zhejiang Yongcheng') and & M R B RS AR A
7] ("Jinan Kuaiqgin”), wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, is not
less than RMB32 million (after deduction of the Performance Bonus); and
(b) the yearly net profit of the Group is not less than RMB90 million (after
deduction of the Performance Bonus) (collectively, the “Performance
Indicators”). The above mentioned conditions must be satisfied at the
same time. If any of the conditions is not satisfied, no Performance Bonus
will be made by the Company.

The arrangement of the Performance Bonus is due to the reallocation
and assignment of additional duties and responsibilities to Mr. Liu Jian,
Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing and Mr. Long Weimin to manage the
businesses of the Group including Zhejiang Yongcheng and Jinan Kuaigin
immediately after the retirement of a personnel (the “Retired Personnel’)
who was responsible for management of the businesses operation of the
Group including Zhejiang Yongcheng and Jinan Kuaigin. With the above
reallocation and assignment of additional duties and responsibilities, it is to
aim for growth and improvement of the overall performance of the Group
including Zhejiang Yongcheng and Jinan Kuaigin.

Taking into account that Mr. Liu Jian, Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing and
Mr. Long Weimin are able to take up additional duties and responsibilities
that left over by the Retired Personnel immediately (which save the cost
and time in searching for suitable candidate for replacement); Mr. Liu Jian,
Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing and Mr. Long Weimin are well experienced
and familiar with the operations of the Group; and both of the Performance
Indicators represent a growth as compare to the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company considers that the arrangement of the Performance
Bonus is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries
are primarily engaged in the provision of property management services,
sales assistance services, provision of cleaning and greening services and
provision of real estate agency services in the PRC. Further discussion
and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the business and a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of
the financial year 2024, and an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” sections of this
annual report. The above sections form part of this report.

During the year, the Company has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to reducing emissions and minimizing negative
environmental impacts through the implementation of the environmental
management system (“EMS”) across our properties. The Group's EMS is
certified to the international standard 1SO14001. Apart from complying with
all relevant international and local regulations, the Group regularly identify
potential environmental risks and strive for continuous improvement. The
key environmental concerns from the Group's operations relate to resource
use and waste management. The Group have implemented relevant
initiatives, such as implementation of metering systems to monitor the
energy and water consumption, installation of LED lighting and energy
efficient water pumps. The Group also promote environmental protection
awareness to its employees and property owners through posting
reminders and providing recycle bins.

The Group obtain the certification from OHSAS18001 occupational health
and safety management system. The Group prides itself on providing a safe,
effective and congenial work environment and it values the health and
well-being of its staff. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines have
been implemented to ensure its working environment is healthy and safe.

The Company's Environmental, Social and Governance Report, regarding
the same year covered in this annual report, will be posted on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company with the publication of this
annual report.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH ITS EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has maintained a good relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers:

Employees: Employees are the most valuable asset for the Group.
The Group therefore strive to create a motivated
workplace by providing employees a safe and healthy
working environment, and a fair workplace with a
prospective career. The Group also emphasises on its
employees’ work-life balance, and organised various
activities throughout the year.

Customers: The Group is committed to upholding excellence
in its service quality in each and every part of the
services, and providing a feel-at-home experience to
build customer connection. Various communication
channels are set up to listen to its customers’ opinions.
Suppliers: The success of the Group highly depends on the
quality of products and services obtained from them,
hence, the Group developed procurement procedures
to select and assess its suppliers carefully.

More details will be disclosed in the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, which will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company with the publication of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 69 of
this annual report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKD2.50
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 ("Proposed Final
Dividend") (2023: HKD2.50 cents) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 12 June 2025.

Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"), the
Proposed Final Dividend is expected to be payable on or about 10 July
2025. The aggregate amount shall be paid out of the Company’s share
premium account if the payment of the dividend is approved by the
shareholders at the AGM.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Purpose

1.1

The dividend policy aims to set out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Principles and Guidelines

2.1

27

2.3

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be
a balance between retaining adequate reserves for the
Group's future growth and rewarding the shareholders of the
Company.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the following factors when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

— the Group's overall results of operation, financial
condition, expected working capital requirements and
capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position and
future expansions plans;

—  the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves
of the Company;

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group's business and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
is subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association, the Listing Rules and any other applicable laws
and regulations.
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24 The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company's dividend distribution
record in the past may not be used as a reference or basis to
determine the level of dividends that may be declared or paid
by the Company in the future.

2.5  Thedividend policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend
and/or in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.

lll. Review of the Policy

3.1 The Board will continually review the dividend policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and modify the dividend policy at any time.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five
financial years is set out on page 184.

LOANS

Please refer to note 29 to financial statements of this annual report for
details of the loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the Group’s property and
equipment are set out in note 13 to financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REW*
Details of the movements during the year in the Group's investment B REAEEIREMERFERNE BN FBEH LT
properties are set out in note 14 to financial statements. &M 140
In addition, details of the investment property are set out below: ptoh - IREMENFBEHINAT ¢

Location

B

4 office units on the 10th floor (Nos. 10-1 to 10-4) of
Ningbo Fortune City, located at the northem side
of Jingjia Bridge and the eastern side of Binjiang
Avenue, Jiangdong District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang
Province, The PRC

FEIEERTIRRERFILAIRETIR
BERAE RSP0 4 @B A ER (10-1
Z10-4%)

83 apartment units, 2 retail units and 9 car parks of
Shui mao Huayuan, located at No. 75-77 Lane 528,
Xindian Road, Haishu District, Ningbo City, Zhejiang
Province, The PRC

o BT T8 K T 5 B R T HRBR 508 F 75-77 55
KEKEESBERABEN 2T EERKIME
(e

A retail unit of Zhebei Commercial Square, located
at Longshan Avenue, ZhiCheng Town, Changxing
County, Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC

BT L& 4 T R B SR AR R L KB L
HEES ATEEN

13 car parking spaces of Ouya Haoting located
at Yuetai Street, Shigi District, Zhongshan City,
Guangdong Province, The PRC
PEERETIITAKEEREEERE 13
B

3 apartment units (Nos. 1808, 1908 and 1909) of
Xiangxie Mansion, located at, Jiefang Avenue,
Shaoxing City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC

PRI ERETRIAEEHAEIEARSE
iz (1808 * 1908 & 19095%)

Lease

HE

Held under a land use right for a
term expiring on 20 May 2048

BELHERESS  BHR
20485 F20 B B

Held under a land use right for a
term expiring on 9 December
2049

RETEREREE - HHR
2040F 12 A9BER

Held under a land use right for a
term expiring on 1 December
2049

RiiERESE  BHER
2049F 12 B 1BEM

Held under a land use right for a
term expiring on 5 September
2076

REtmEREss 2R
20769 A5 BEM

Held under a land use right for a
term expiring on 3 December
2049

RELERESE  HHR
2049F 12 A3 B @MW

Use

A&

Office

%j\

SRr
>

Dormitory,
commercial
and car park

BE BAER

(e

Commercial

[GES

Carpark

FE

Commercial
service and
office

AERB K
YN

The group’s
effective
interest

AEEN
ERER

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R

Gross
Floor Area
(sg.m.)
BEmE
(FHXK)

2,75331

2,753.31

7,796.53

7,796.53

26.16

26.16

43181

43181
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Location

B

Aresidential unit (Room703) of a residential building,
No.7 Zhong Jing Si Avenue, Nansha District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, The PRC

FEERERMNTEIRPROE7HE—EET
BF—EEXEE(703%)

Aresidential unit (No.16, Building 9) of, Siji Jingu,
located at Dongcheng Avenue, Zhaoging City,
Guangdong Province, The PRC

TEEREEETRUANENFTER—AEE

B (9fR16%%)

An apartment unit (No. 1415) of Kunlun International,
located at Youyi Avenue, Baotou City, Inner
Mongolia, The PRC

FEASEEEMREAGESEE—EAS

Bz (14155%)

9 car parking spaces of, Louvre Garden, located at,
Jinxing Road, Yuyao City, Ningbo City, Zhejiang
Province, The PRC

RENIE R T AT 2K
B

An apartment unit (No. 2022) of Dacheng Mingzuo,
located at No. 7 Ningan Road Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, The PRC

RENNTE N TR ILRERRK 7R AKEE—
EREEA (20225)

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BREW=E &)

Lease Use

HE Jiikes

Held under aland userightfora ~ Dormitory
term expiring on 28 May 2077

REtERESS HER BE
2077F5 A28 BEM

Held under aland userightfora ~ Dormitory
term expiring on 23 July 2076

REtwERERss HHR BE
2076F7 A23BER

Held under aland userightfora ~ Dormitory
term expiring on 1 September
2081

REtwERESs HHR BE
2081 F9A1BER

Held under aland userightfora  Car park
term expiring on 12 October
2080

RELuwERESE B8R #E
2080F10A 2B ER

Held under aland userightfora ~ Commercial
term expiring on 14 December service and
2051 office

RELDWERESS  BHR AXRER
2051F12 A 14BEM i UNES

The group’s
effective
interest
KRB
BRER

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Gross
Floor Area
(sq.m.)
EEEE
(EHXK)
12867

12867

200.07

200.07

47.38

4738

12870

128.70

165.04

165.04



SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 30 to financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked
agreement entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws of Cayman Islands, distributable reserves
of the Company as of 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
RMB244.8 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB273.3 million).

DIRECTORS

The following is the list of Directors during the year and up to the date of
this annual report.

Brief biographies of the current Directors of the Group are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report.

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Jin Keli
Ms. Xu Yaping

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral
Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin
Mr. Yin Weizhong
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BRAFRAWEIN B E2024F 128318 IEF
BR - ARTWEE] MR EE 1% -

A 2K

RIEFASEEMEES - R2024F 128318 K
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Pursuant to Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of the Company, the
office of a director shall be vacated if the director, among other things,
without special leave of absence from the Board, is absent from meetings
of the Board for six consecutive months, and his alternate director, if any,
shall not during such period have attended in his stead and the Board
resolves that his office be vacated.

Pursuant to Articles 83(3) of the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr.
Yin Weizhong and Ms. Xu Yaping shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election.

Pursuant to Articles 84 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing and Ms. Jin Keli shall retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has an unexpired service contract with the Group
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, the Company had a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) in force
for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year 2024 and as at the date
of approval of this Directors’ report, pursuant to which the Company shall
indemnify any Director against any liability, loss suffered and expenses
incurred by the Director in connection with any legal proceedings in
which he/she is involved by reason of being a Director, except in any
case where the matter in respect of which indemnification is sought was
caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the Directors. The Company has
maintained insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During the year 2024,
no claims were made against the Director.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

There were no contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries and holding company was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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STATUS OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”). Based on such confirmations, the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO, or which otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

(i) Long position in Shares

Capacity in which interests

Name of Director were held
EEpE BEERNS 5
Mr. Liu Jian Founder of discretionary trust, Interest
in controlled corporation
Bk PREFAIVA - XEEEER
Note:

M Dawngate Limited (‘Dawngate”) holds 40% of the issued share capital of
Qichang International Limited ("Qichang”) and is taken to be interested in all
the shares of Qichang and all the Shares of the Company held by Qichang for
the purposes of Part XV of the SFO. The issued share capital of Dawngate is held
as to 15% by Mr. Liu and 85% by Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited as trustee of the
Liu Family Trust. Being the settlor of the Liu Family Trust, Mr. Liu is taken to be
interested in all the Shares of the Company that the Liu Family Trust is interested
under Part XV of the SFO.

As of 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor their associates had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debenture
of the Company or any associated corporations.
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EETRE

BYFHITESHRR

ARBCWBIZBULIFNTESREY T
EARAT ERRA) B335 ?‘Hﬂﬁ’]ﬁiliﬁ&
R > ENZEWARL  NRBIRBAABILIE
HWITESFDABLAL -

EERESTBRAERKS - HE
R R &SRS

R2024F12A31H EERHEBBARARQF

REMEREZE (TR LEBENETNEERES
MEREED) ([BHERBEMKRE]) FEXvER) &K

HERDREFTEERBEES RBEKRGSE

3 EEFENETRMATEEE - RE TR A
sl EMETAESETELFR HNIZETAA
MEARRAREZFIOERET
3
RARR ARG RARRE AR () ) #E 2w
(i) ROPNFER
Approximate
Number of percentage
shares of interest
RO E BREZE oL
475,314,000 55.62%

Wi

m BEERAA(REDHERERREARA
([RRE ) BE#ATRAE 40% « RIRF %&Hﬁiﬂlﬂ
BIEXVES - BERREBRREMARDRRKE
IS BRRRRNPHEEER - JEEND %
17 B 7K B3 21 55 4 #5 B 15% & B Hilton Assets (PTO)
Limited A ZIR R IR FERZEA B D5 H85% ©
REES MG EXVE 21EE g B2 K
RIREENEIZA  HRAREKRKETHES
R ARRARRN PG -

R2024F12A31H BMEEEHXEBHEARK
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
with any individual, firm or body corporate during the year 2024,

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding company was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year 2024, no Directors had an interest in any business which
competes or may compete with the business in which the Group is
engaged.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

A deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) was
entered into by Mr. Liu Jian, Dawngate Limited and Qichang International
Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) in favor of the
Company on 5 November 2015, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders will not, and will procure any of its/his associates and any
company directly or indirectly controlled by he/it (not include any member
of the Group) not to either on his/its own or in conjunction with any body
corporate, partnership, joint venture or other contractual agreement,
whether directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, carry on, participate
in, hold, engage in, acquire or operate, or provide any form of assistance to
any person, firm or company (except members of the Group) to conduct
any business which, directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with
the business presently carried on by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any other business that may be carried on by any of them from time to
time during the term of the Deed of Non-competition, in Hong Kong or
China and such other places as the Company or any of its subsidiaries may
conduct or carry on business from time to time, including but not limited
to provision of property management services, residential community 020
business and other related services.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status
of compliance and confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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FESRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERRK

As of 31 December 2024, the register of substantial shareholders #2024 12 318 AR AIRIEZHF LB EF
maintained by the Company under section 336 of the SFO recorded that IS 336§ FEMN T ER R AMLH - U T HEE
the following entities, other than the Directors of the Company, had an (KRR B EFKRIN RA D &) 79 15 =k A8 B8 A% 19

interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as follows: WA T
Long positions L5}
Number of
Shares/ Approximate
Capacity and underlying percentage
Name of shareholder nature of interest Shares of interest
B 13, M AR
BREEEB SO RERME RH A Bak
Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited Trustee 475,314,0000 55.62%
A
Dawngate Limited Interest in controlled corporation 475,314,000? 55.62%
TBEBRQE R AEE R
Qichang International Limited Beneficial owner 475,314,000 55.62%
MEBKRABR QA BE=mBEAA
Greentown Service Beneficial owner 159,571,300 18.67%
AR AR 75 BESBEAA
Notes: B 5

m The issued share capital of Dawngate is held as to 15% by Mr. Liu and 85% by Hilton (1) TBE ) B 81T B8 78 B 2 5t A 35 B 15% K A Hilton Assets
(PTC) Limited A BI R R IEE7EXFEA H D FFH 85% - %15
WA ABRLE  WIRERSHSAENT - 2K
RIEEANEESTAREALEREERRE -

Assets (PTC) Limited as trustee of the Liu Family Trust, a trust with Mr. Liu as founder
and established in accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands. The discretionary
beneficiaries of the Liu Family Trust include Mr. Liu and immediate family members of
Mr. Liu.

2 Dawngate holds 40% of the issued share capital of Qichang and is taken to be interested ~ (2) TEEFARMECBITRAMA0%  FhES KBS EHNE
XVEME  WRBRRMEMBMEARAARRGFHEE
o TERIREARAR - BIKARDRARLIEARA
RAINRARE Lt REAEREAREENZERE
ERAT - FAMEBBITIRAE) 20% °

in all shares of the Company held by Qichang for the purposes of Part XV of the SFO.
Each of Suiya Investment Limited, Signgain Limited and Onsure Limited, being the
wholly-own investment holding company of Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing and Mr.
Long Weimin respectively, holds 20% of the issued share capital of Qichang.

FREREEFRAR
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not enter into
any connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which
need to be disclosed in this annual report under Rule 14A.49 of the Listing
Rules.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group’s major suppliers are sub-contractors providing relevant
services for the Group's property management and sales assistance
business lines. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's largest
supplier accounted for approximately 7.8% (2023: 8.5%) of the Group's
total purchases, and the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 9.4% (2023: 11.8%) of the Group's total purchases.

The major customers of our property management business line include
property developers, property owners and property owners' associations,
while the major customers of the sales assistance business line include
property developers. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's
largest customer accounted for approximately 1.0% (2023: 1.0%) of the
Group's revenue, and the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 3.6% (2023: 3.8%) of the Group's revenue.

At all times during the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders of the Company which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had an interest
in any of the five largest suppliers or customers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate.

The remuneration committee of the Company reviews and makes
recommendations to the Board on terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 8 to financial statements of
this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholder.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed herein, at no time during
the year was the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, Certified
Public Accountants. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
AGM of the Company to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
B AZ AN RS

Bl #7 43 @ F H% 6FA R
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

31/F, Gloucester Tower aBE

The Landmark IR

11 Pedder Street EITHIE
Central B ES

Hong Kong HHETITREINE

To the shareholders of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong Ao Home
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 69 to 183 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirement of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
B ZBEN RS

BFARESEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,  BESEE T EIB IR I AT B 5 4 - SN HARD
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial #ZAFKEHRERNBARAEENEH - ZE5FHE
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the ~ RAFTEEBEAPMBHRERL A S REERE o
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, AFFFA & ¥ ZSEEHIZHEBER -

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

HEEITER

Impairment of trade and other receivables

B 5 K H o B W R IE BV R (E

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of trade receivables
amounted to RMB659,920,000 and the related provision for
impairment amounted to RMB154,056,000. In addition, the
balance of other receivables amounted to RMB307,685,000
and the related provision for impairment amounted to
RMB114,400,000. For the trade receivables, management
recognised an impairment provision based on the expected
credit loss (ECL) model under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS") 9 Financial Instruments. The measurement
of ECLs requires the application of management’s significant
judgement and estimation, such as the existence of disputes,
historical payment record, forward-looking factors and any other
available information. Meanwhile, for the other receivables,
management recognised an impairment provision based on
the general approach. The measurement requires management
to assess whether there is any significant increase in credit risk.
Therefore, we identified it as a key audit matter.
R2024F12R831H BEZRKRRELEHRBARK
659,920,000 7T * i A8 B8 60 R (B 5 5 s A R 85 154,056,000 7T ©
S - E A R R IR B A B A AR 307,685,000 7T KR (E
BAERAE B A AR5 114,400,000 7T © LB S EMGKRIEM E -
ERERBEEAVBRSEN(ERUBBREER ] Fo
FIeMIAIBETHNEHEEER EREEBE) KK
BWRMERE FEEPEERER EREETEZERE
AHVE R fEE - PINBE R FESE  BENN RO - Al
EMHEE A REAEMAIEER o RIFR - 3 E RN
BEME BEERE-—RITEAERRNERE -AE2EEKE
BENAGEERRESHBEMBELN - Bt - XFARZ
REAREZEE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 23 and 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HEREEMALRE YRR TE24 323K 24

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REEMAERTFEEBRREETEE

Our procedures in relation to impairment of trade and other
receivables included:

RFTEE 5 K B A R MGR IR E MR Fr B35

Checking the accuracy of the ageing of trade and other
receivables;

WEE 5 N H R UIR MR R R

Assessing the assumptions applied, including existence
of disputes, historical payment records, historical credit
loss experience and forward-looking factors;
FIAPTEANRE  RREEEFESRSE BLH
Rtk BLEEEBRLREAEERE

Obtaining and testing the historically observed default
rates prepared by management; and

ESYAREEBRAENBENERERE &

Assessing the adequacy of the Group's disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

FHE ERERGRAMBHRRANEERS M

We found that the estimation and judgement made by
management in respect of the ECL allowance and the
collectability of trade and other receivables were supported
by the available evidence.

AR EREEERBEERERBUARE S NHE
ftb FEUCRR IR AT B 1 75 T PR 5 K FIER 1S BB RS 8 ©

FREREEFRAR
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Key audit matter

MREER

Valuation of investment properties

REYMENMGE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties
amounted to RMB154,784,000. The Group recorded a net
fair value loss of RMB5,946,000 for the year, which has been
determined with reference to the valuations performed by an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers using the
market approach. The valuation of the investment properties
involves significant estimates and key assumptions on items such
as the selection of comparable properties and market price.
R20245F12A31H BEXEBENREVMERARE
1547840007C - EEEBEBAFEAFTERFEARE
59460007T * h2ERXB U REEX S ERMEEMITEATS
EFTETHEMETE - REWMENLES JEIA LB
ERMISEREFRENERMGG RERRR -

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
appropriate similar properties, the Group considers information
from a variety of sources, including current prices in an active
market for properties of a different nature, condition or location,
less active market transactions and discounted cash flows of
rental income.
ERRBEDENERBTISNRTERBAT - EEEH
ZERREZENRFRENER - BETEMLEE - R
ENYENERTISEAER RERTISERS MEEK
ARSI ©

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MHEREAAGEM B RERME24 3K 14
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REMAESEFTTEEREETSR

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment
properties included:

A ERBYMREENEFBIE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the external valuers, and obtaining an understanding
of their scope of work and their terms of engagement;
FHESMNEEERER - e REBIME - LT
HI e E RERGR:

Checking the property related information and
involving our valuation specialists to assist us in
reviewing and assessing the underlying assumptions
adopted by the valuers in their valuation, such as the
selection of comparable properties and market price.
BEMERBEELMARMNGEEZRHEE
FIBER MR A EMEEAETRANBEBERR
WEERA] & LB 3 R T IS B -

We found that the valuation of investment properties was
supported by available evidence.

KRB EYEGHERINEBES -



OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 March 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
alsor

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

66

BB ETRE
MEE

AR ER  RHSEEMERRBBEIES T FE
MR AFE SR M S A E R E A RRAINGF
BERE XER BTUEARRHABRER
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ@’fﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁﬂii&% * BRIt 2 SN RS Bl R EL A
BE) s NI T ERARENABTRETAEMAL
B ESAEERRE-

BMBRAREE

EERBERERKFHNRE BIEREBER(ER

B EADETHNERAER -—BABRBAFTE
R ARRE SR IR o SHRRMRUME A] LA R ERRF SR ER AR 31 #E -
WRAEEHEMERNXERLERAETERE
MBEBREREFIELHEIRTE - BB BN E
AR AT AR MEE KX ©

ERBC(ER BT ERDETEABRS - A
BT REHE R TRUERIERRRE o KRN

BRI BN BREFFRERMEBERE M
BHRAFEEARHERBANER R K
HITEF R AR ELRER A RRE
FRMNEENE;RE f’EZ%$Fﬁ%?EE’\J
HEif - ANMFFRAIBE S RBE  BE
BER - ERR  30EBRAIE %IJZ
F-RAEREEREARTFMERNEKNE
A Rt &Y R B 0 A 85 R T G B BB K 8RR
Bt R R A o

TAEREREFEEARERES  ARFEES
MBESERF BEMNLIEYH EKIW*B
ZHIMAREERER

HEEFEMEAETBERNVBEERIEL
SRHAFT AR EERN SN -



Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Tien Sun Kit, Jack.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Tien Sun Kit, Jack
Practicing Certificate Number: P07364

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

re S E W

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M e AR® T ARET T
REVENUE g 5 1,778,998 1,709,642
Cost of sales and services HE R ARFE KA (1,412,185) (1,359,084)
Gross profit EF 366,813 350,558
Other income and gain EH YA R W a= 5 41,495 49,281
Selling and distribution expenses ﬁﬁ ERDHEAX (7,298) (6,/488)
Administrative expenses TERAX (206,451) (192,345)
Net impairment losses recognised on HemEERRREEEFE
financial assets (41,090) (58,662)
Other expenses HimAx (15,374) (17,261)
Finance costs B 75 AR 7R 7 (2,367) (3,379)
Share of profits and losses of: FE(R LA A1 R 48
Joint ventures BEDE 2,373 2,838
Associates sEAl/NE] 378 167
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B¢ A 5 6 138,479 124,709
Income tax expenses TS #iF 2 10 (46,353) (40,737)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFHE 92,126 83,972
Attributable to: AT AL -
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZF SN 12 88,896 80,054
Non-controlling interests é‘H % 8 2= 3,230 3,918
92,126 83,972
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBEERBREA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EBEEREF
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted HEAR#E
— For profit for the year (RMB) — FRmRM(ARET) 12 0.104 0.094
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FAREKSAERE
FOR THE YEAR 92,126 83,972
Attributable to: L‘/\T/\i},@{ﬁ :
Owners of the parent IS/NEIEZF =N 88,896 80,054
Non-controlling interests 3'5? [ 4 a 3,230 3918
92,126 83,972

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Mo e AR®Tx AREETF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE

Property and equipment LE ISR 13 102,370 112,825
Investment properties REME 14 154,784 161,005
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15 5,940 9,703
Goodwill EES 16 225,282 225,282
Prepayments for acquisition of properties HSZ B ENIENFHIA 17 9,259 12,125
Investments in joint ventures A%ﬁ?%ﬁ’]&é{ 18 5,339 5,937
Investments in associates REEE R BINIEE 19 6,477 8,099
Other intangible assets EtmpEaE 20 32,196 41,632
Prepayments and other receivables ?Ei\ﬁ IE Ko H th & M 3R 24 12,566 17,623
Deferred tax assets EERIBEEE 21 77,093 76,864
Total non-current assets FREBEEHLE 631,306 671,095

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 22 9,072 6,253
Trade receivables B 5 R WA 23 505,864 538334
Prepayments and other receivables TEAT FRIE & B b fE SRR 24 248,787 317,026
Financial assets at fair value through profitorloss X AFEFFABRZHM SR EE 25 = 2,961
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEED 26 545,156 531,583
Total current assets REBEEHAE 1,308,879 1,396,157

CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B ENRIE 27 96,732 110,168
Other payables and accruals ﬁf’@fﬁ%’&lﬁ MEETE A 28 539,660 702,730
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings s EIRIT R EME K 29 45,920 48,990
Lease liabilities HE Ea 1* 15,29 1,523 8,082
Tax payables FE I8 119,172 127,478
Total current liabilities REaEasE 803,007 997,448
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 505,872 398,709
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRDAR 1,137,178 1,069,804
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fre B BRI R

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B E ARMTRE ARBTET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIERE 21 33,893 32,911
Lease liabilities HEARE 15,29 5,425 4186
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEHATE 39,318 37,097
NET ASSETS EEZRE 1,097,860 1,032,707
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS BRATEEAELER
OF THE PARENT
Share capital [N 30 7,082 7,082
Reserves i1 31 1,032,570 963,246
1,039,652 970,328

Non-controlling interests AR AE =S 58,208 62,379
TOTAL EQUITY B 1,097,860 1,032,707
Liu Jian Chen Zhuo
2 [ g=)
Director Director
EF E
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

;\\/ \

AERBBHE

Year ended 31 December 2024 E E2024F 12 A31BILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRREAAEE
Capital Non-
Issued Share  redemption Statutory Other Specal Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests  Total equity
BRARA  RBEE AABERE  ZERE  AtEE  RIRE  REBEA Nt ERER aRs
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETr ARET:R
Asat 1January 2023 #2023%1818 7,082 403986 48 91483 14,000 (76,747) 476,738 916590 70339 986929
Profit and comprehensive ERMEREM2ERA
income for the year - - - - - - 80054 80,054 3918 83972
Divestment of interests ina subsidiary 5 —RH B4 AR - - - - - (6933) - (6933 6933 -
Dividend paid BRKE - (19307) - - . = = (19307) g (19307)
Dividends to non-controlling- EfFERRRORE
shareholders - - - - - B - - (15600 (15,600
Deregistration of a subsidiary BEHR-FHBAT - - - - - - = = (2450) (2450)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests M EFE R & - - - - - (76) B (76) (761) (837)
Transfer from retained profits BRARBEN - - - 1225 - - (12229) : . =
As at 31 December 2023 #2035 12318 7,082 384679 @ 103708 14000 (83756) 44567 970328 62379 1032707
Attributable to owners of the parent
BAREAAELR
Capital Non-
Issued Share  redemption Statutory Other Special Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests  Total equity
BRTRE  ROEE EARERE  iERE  HMRE  BERE RERER Mt FERER BRER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARMTR AR¥TR ARMTR AR®TR ARMTR AR¥TR ARMTR AR®TR ARMTR
Asat 1 January 2024 20451818 7,082 384,679 48 103,708 14,000 (83,756) 544,567 970,328 62,379 1,032,707
Profit and comprehensive ERFEREMZERA
income for the year - - - - - - 88,896 88,896 3,230 92,126
Dividend paid BfRE - (19,572) - - - - - (19,572) - (19,572)
Dividends to non-controlling- BREEREROEE
shareholders - - - - - - = = (7,453) (7,453)
Capital contrioution from RRERTE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 52 52
Transfer from retained profits BRERTERN - - - 12,236 - - (12,236) - - -
Asat 31 December 2024 #2024 5128318 7,082 365,107* 48* 115,944* 14,000¢ (83,756)% 621,227* 1,039,652 58,208 1,097,860
* These reserve accounts comprised the consolidated other reserves of RMB1,032,570,000  * ZEREREBESMBRARNGEEBHEEARE

(2023: RMB963,246,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

/2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NS R ACT

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

ER

2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt ARBTRE AREKTE
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REKLE EFHHNERESRE
Profit before tax: FRECRTADE - 138,479 124,709
Adjustments for: BATHIERAE :
Fair value loss on investment properties REMEN DN TEBE 14 5,946 1,556
Depreciation of items of property and MERBHEEENE
equipment 13 32,722 27,746
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15 4,386 3,909
Amortisation of intangible assets mREERE 20 9,505 10,240
Gain on disposal of items of HEMERZRBEEN
property and equipment, net W 558 6 (326) (327)
Loss on disposal of investment properties LEREMEESE 83 3,715
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 E W IE R E 23 20,630 26,196
Impairment of prepayments, FERHIE - ke Kk
deposits and other receivables H fib B W IB R (B 24 20,460 32,466
Share of profits of joint ventures fEME & &R HE (2,373) (2,838)
Share of profits of associates =N (378) (167)
Fair value change of financial assets of fair value & AFEFABZENEBE
profit or loss ENFEEZS 2,961 4715
Finance costs B FS B AR 7 2,367 2,694
Net foreign exchange loss/(gains) & 5518, () #58 474 (1,898)
Other interest income from financial BEAFEABGHNESRE
assets at fair value through profit or loss EREEAMmF EUWA - (1,171
Bank interest income HBITHE YA (9,470) (8,504)
225,466 223,041
Increase in inventories FEEN 22 (2,819) (665)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B 5 e IER A, (18 h0) 11,840 (68,370)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and TE AT SR8 N E b B W SRR
other receivables B (35 n) 53,222 (37,762)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B SRR R ),/ (13,436) 9,386
Decrease in prepayments for acquisition of U B W 3 A T8 5 BOE DR A
properties 2,866 1,967
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and Eh e B L ERTE A
accruals CRLA) /1 (162,954) 30,195
Cash generated from operations KREFREBHES 114,185 157,792
Tax paid EHIIR (55,412) (33,707)
Net cash flows from operating activities REKETBHHNRERETFHE 58,773 124,085

FRIAREEERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,/T\Afﬁi/ﬁiﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E2024F 12 A3 1 HIEFE

2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt ARBTRE ARBTx

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RERETHHNRESHKE

Proceeds from disposal of property and HEYE RBETS IR
equipment 1,569 4,028
Purchases of items of property and equipment B8 B ¥ 2% K iR 518 B 13 (23,896) (26,271)
Addition to investment properties BWAREREME 14 - (1,900)
Purchase of intangible assets BERVAEE 20 (69) (953)
Investment in an associate R—REERRIRE 19 - (340)
Interest income received B R B A 5 9,470 8,504
Disposal of investment properties HEREME 14 192 16,337
Dividend received from a joint venture Wl B —HMaatEriRE 18 2,971 2,400

Other interest income from financial EAFEFAERD

assets at fair value through profit or loss SRIBEMRGEAMNEHRA 5 - 1171
Acquisition of non-controlling interests B S 1 I e 2w - (837)
Deregistration of a subsidiary BiEEM —RE AR = (2,450
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HE—REZE QAT ?% FRIB 2,000 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities REFZEFFARESHRETFE (7,763) 311)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REBETEHHNRESRE
New bank loans FTIBIRITE R 49,990 128,990
Repayment of bank loans EERITENR (53,060) (128,990)
Interest paid B E (2,367) (2,694)
Principal portion of lease payments HENE E’leii% ) 15 (5,943) (3,586)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests FE42% i& #E 25 )X & 52 -
Dividends paid TR E 11 (19,572) (19,307)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders 2 15 JE4E A% AR BB A A% 8 (6,063) (14,554)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEZBHFARSREFE (36,963) (40,141)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEI\/\ENT OF CASH FLOWS
/\\/ » Eﬁ ﬂ_Z ;ﬁ%%

Year ended 31 December 2024 #E2024F 12 A31 HIEFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMTRE ARBTE

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBRSSEYEMBEHE

EQUIVALENTS 14,047 83,633
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year i?ﬂzfﬁﬁ &iﬁﬁgﬁ ) 531,583 446,052
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net KEBM B FE (474) 1,898
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT fﬁkziﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁw

END OF YEAR 545,156 531,583
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRRSEEBYESRINT

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the B BARRKAYIERS K

statement of financial position BHEEEY 545,156 531,583
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ASSTATED BHE&FEXRFIEER

IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS REZEY 545,156 531,583

PRIAREEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 R Y ot

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

1.

/6

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Cayman Islands Companies Law on 5
January 2015. The registered office address of the Company is P.O.
Box 2681, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following principal
activities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"):

provision of property management services
provision of cleaning and greening services

provision of other business, including sales of elevators and
installation services, provision of security services, real estate
consulting and agency services, sales assistance services,
engineering services, catering services and the sale of
engineering spare parts.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s immediate and
ultimate holding company is Qichang International Limited
("Qichang”), a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI").

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

L

Zhong Ao Holdings Limited
REERERAA

BROBMEEEFRAA
("Guangdong Zhong Ao")*

BRTENEEBERAA
([ERHRE])"

ALK EEERERAT

(‘Zhejiang Yongcheng')
ALK EERERAT
(THTKR )

IR RS Z2RE AR A A
('Foshan Pairuier”) *
BILRR RS 2 IRE AR A A
([ L RER R ) *

BN IXRERENEERE
B BR A Al ("Suzhou House
Construction’) *

BN IXRERENEERE
BRAR((E&MNER])

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

MR
BRREELH

British Virgin Islands
RERUES

PRC/Mainland China

B/ R E A

PRC/Mainland China

B/ E R

PRC/Mainland China

B/ E R

PRC/Mainland China

B E R

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BERTLE/
of fit AR A

usD1
1E7T

RMB100,000,000

AR # 100,000,000 7T

RMB11,000,000

AR 11,000,0007T

RMB50,000,000

AR 50,000,0007T

RMB32,352,941

ARH32352,941 7T

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

AEIREEBER (&)
BB A TNER
ARTTEMBATMEBWT -

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

ARRELAEEE DL
Direct Indirect Principal activities
= BiE ETEER
100% - Investment holding
REZR
- 100%  Provision of property
management services
RENEERRE
- 100%  Provision of property
management services
RENEERRE

59.4%

90%  Provision of property
management services

RRDEEERY

- Provision of property
management services

REDEEERY

FRIAREEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

b e

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continuec) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/
registration registered
Name and business share capital
HFMEL BRTERE/
& BEREENH aF i AR A<
ERERRETIEZERLA PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000
('Guangdong Huarui") *
BRERRFIRERAA BB A AR 20,0000007T
([ERER])"
BRAZEESREMERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,100,000
("Guangdong Xunhua")
BRAZEZSREMERAA BBl A AE10,100,0007T
([EREE])"
EREINBEBENERBAERL  PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000
A ('Ningbo Reston)
B ENEEEERS FRE i AR 5,000,0007C
BRAR ((ZREHE]):
EERORBERLAA PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000
("Jinan Kuaiqin")
BERRSREERAA BBl A AR 30000000 7T
([EERE])’
* Foshan Pairuier is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law

and the registered capital of Foshan Pairuier has been fully paid up.

f The subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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PEAIREBEER (#)
EBEMBATMNER (&)

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
ARARERERD L

Direct Indirect

B R
- 90%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Principal activities

TERE

Provision of property
management services

RENFEERY

Provision of engineering
services

RETERS

Provision of property
management services

RENFEERS

Provision of property
management services

RENFEERS

* BLRRBRETEAZAMAIEBELE
RpLRmEZIMERELRE -

' ZEWMB AR RBEREMERT -

EREJEERR/IBEFEAKEFER
AABRAIDEEFENAARMER
Al -EFZRA/ILEMMBRARNFEL

BHREILE -



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (‘/RMB") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e, existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.1

30

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the 2020 Amendments’)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments’)

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(@)  Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

82

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a
liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a
liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements
in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS 23 EEMERRERNEEBYTBR
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS EEAEER
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS AEBWERZEVBREREATIIEHR
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet 1R R E BT E] RAENER] BB
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply EEASHER  c AEEBRRZETII X
these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, KNS FT BB B 5 W& £ R g 51 48 Al A 005
when they become effective. AR (@A) o
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in BRI BHREER HHBHENZ R
Financial Statements® 185 #E
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public BRI BREER ELARBE MR
Accountability: Disclosures® F195% KB A - #E
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature- BAEM RS R KEEREREES
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity? BORRE BB B & 4
WEERIE 75
(1&5TA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the BRI BREER He@TADH
and HKFRS 7 Classification and Measurement of FoRRBBHB FTEMEET’
Financial Instruments? WmERERIE 7R
(1&5TA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BRI BHREER & AR E
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and FI0RRB BT REDEZEZ
its Associate or Joint Venture* ERIF 285 (BFTA) BEMHELTE
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability' BEGIHEAE R HSZATHENM
(1&ETA)
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, BB BHEER EEMBREER
HKFRS Accounting Standards  HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72 BEERF R IE B9 BB
— Volume 11 —FENns WEERIE 75
BB EREER
FoW - BB

HEEAE 105K
BRI EAS 7R

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 ! 202591 A1 Bz %R K FE B AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 2 $20265F 1 A1 Bk & FIAE) G EIR A R
: Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 : R2027F1ATB R BFRENEE HREHH
£
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption ¢ 1 R 2 °E 58 il 4E 2% B BB AT ER AR
FREIREEERAA 83
2024 F 35



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.3

34

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all
income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes, and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included
in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis
of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of HKFRS 18, limited but widely applicable amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share, and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there
are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the
Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement, and
presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end
of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability, and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public
use which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply
HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on which a
financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce
an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability
that is settled through an electronic payment system before the
settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of
financial assets with environmental, social and governance and
other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment
to opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at
the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time
or only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3

36

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume
17 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10, and HKAS
7. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS
7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14, and 1G20B of the Guidance
on implementing HKFRS 7 for simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard and/or
with the concepts and terminology used in other standards.
Additionally, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the
requirements in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor
does it create additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability has
been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is
required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognize
any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. Additionally, the
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3
of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of
HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost
method.” Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments
in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures
is included as part of the Group's investments in associates or joint
ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of comprehensive
income or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(0

(i)

(i)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(0

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

(a)

%
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property and equipment and depreciation

Property, and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual value.
The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease

terms and their useful lives
20% to 33'/3%

10% to 33'/5%

Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain
or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of comprehensive income
in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Software and trademark

Purchased software and trademark are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.

Acquired property management contracts

Acquired property management contracts are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the sum of the years digits
basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 15 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-
use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Buildings 210 10years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

98

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment and laptop computers that are considered
to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for "Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest ("“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group'’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in the statement
of comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third-party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group'’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24. EREFTBER#)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24. EXREFBE )

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TRIEERE#E)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under REBEKAIGFTENSREE  HAETT

the general approach and they are classified within the following STEEHEEEENEERANSE - WiR—

stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which FOAETRME - BERA TR B AL

apply the simplified approach as detailed below. B 5 FE M FRIEBR S

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not BE—IEE — EERK A VIAERARILE
increased significantly since initial recognition and for BEENMNEHIA  HERE
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount BEZBER 2EABHREER
equal to 12-month ECLs BB BT E

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased FoMEBE — BVRERAREERREE
significantly since initial recognition but that are not ERMNMEVIEEABRESHE
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss ENSRITE HESERERR
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime BERZHEREEBESHE
ECLs AE

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting FoRE - ARSHBEREEERED
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit- SREE (BWIEEE S
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured REERENEREE) H
atan amount equal to lifetime ECLs EiERBZASNETEE
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24. EREFTEBER #)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings or
payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24. EREFTBER#)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

110

Provision of property management services

Revenue from the provision of property management services
is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Provision of cleaning and greening services

Revenue from cleaning and greening services is recognised
when the relevant services are rendered and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Other services

Revenue from other services is recognised when the relevant
services are rendered and the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (ie, transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees' basic salaries and are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 14% to 20% of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that
existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the
information affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial
statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in
its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those
conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts
recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of
the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or
a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24. EREFTBER#)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e,, translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of comprehensive income are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from
contracts with customers:

(i)  Identifying performance obligations in multiple
underlying activities of property management services

The Group provides property management services which
comprised multiple underlying activities to the customers (i.e,,
security, maintenance, cleaning, landscaping, administrative
and support services).

While each of these activities are individually capable of being
distinct, the Group determined that they are not distinct within
the context of the contract because the ultimate objective
of the management services is to perform any activities that
are necessary to ensure that the properties are operating
as intended. In addition, the Group determined that the
management services represent a series of services that are
substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer
to the customers over the term of the contract. Each distinct
service represents a performance obligation that would be
satisfied over time (i.e., over the length of the contract, not at a
point in time) and has the same measure of progress (e.g., time
elapsed). Consequently, the Group determined the multiple
underlying activities of property management services to be
accounted for as a single performance obligation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

116

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for
property management services

The Group gives discount to the customers as a strategy
to improve the cash collection of property management
fees, which give rise to variable consideration. The Group
determined that the expected value method is the appropriate
method to use in estimating the variable consideration for
reductions in property management services, given that there
is a wide range of possible outcomes which are subject to
specific cases and negotiations with customers.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, current
negotiations with customers and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Significant
judgements and estimates are involved in the identification of cash-
generating units, operating profit forecasts, perpetuity growth rates
and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions can result in
material differences in impairment charges or available headroom.
Further details are given in note 16.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H
EXETHE R MA@

CHER T

R|BERBERR R TEEER M
PR RRMRARRE  MxEEREIYH T —
EFRFEENEELBENREESR
ERERAE - ARBERWNT -

B
FEEESTEEEARATNE U E
Sl 5 R P TR 7 o 6 02 P O
RS T VN L L
KASHRE R RS REAH RS -
2% BR % B AT BON [ B A 7] FF
MEATR » —SRERRHE 16

B RYHRENAREEBEER

REBFERBBEBREMETEE S RUKHIEN
BEHEEER BEXREBEAFARELERL
B (AEPERN) NS ETF RN AN
BEIRHEE -

BEEERNARNAEENELBERED
Ko AEERKBEHBEEENRBESLE
FRIBRARERE L ER - REREBH -
FELERIMBORGWER - A0 A
WM AET L -

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R

117



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer's actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is
disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of sources
for estimation of fair value of investment properties, including:

(@)  current prices in an active market for properties of a different
nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those
differences; and

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions
since the date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of
any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible)
by external evidence such as current market rents for similar
properties in the same location and condition, and using
discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the
uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurements, are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM") reviews the operating results of the Group as a whole to

make decision about resources allocation. The CODM organised into

business units based on different lines of services rendered in the

PRC as follows:

(a)

The Group primarily provides property developers and
property owners with a broad range of property management
services for mainly residential properties, and commercial
and government buildings. Services provided by the Group
include standard property management services and ancillary
services;

The Group provides property developers and property owners
with a series of indoor and outdoor environmental cleaning,
greening and maintenance services. This business division also
provides services to the property developers and property
owners of the property management business division.
Accordingly, segment results of cleaning and greening
division are evaluated by the Group’s management on services
as subcontracted from the property management business
division; and

Other businesses comprise sales of elevators and installation
services, provision of security services, real estate consulting
and agency services, sales assistance services, engineering
services, catering services and the sale of engineering spare
parts.
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4.

120

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment revenue
and profit (which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax). The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group's
profit before tax except that bank interest income, other interest
income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
changes in fair value of investment properties, fair value adjustment
of contingent consideration, net foreign exchange loss, share of
profits of joint ventures, share of profits of associates, net foreign
exchange gains, non-lease-related finance income/costs as well as
head corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (other than lease liabilities), tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities and other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities
as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

reESETER (8)

ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ¥$ilﬁ%”%2%ﬁ’
Mﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ DB B R IRFF (2R E

DRRBILA 2 “%Wm&ﬁfﬂ%ﬁﬁ
;ﬁﬂﬁkmwﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ AR R
Tt R 8 2 5T 8 BN ER B Y BR % A AR —
BUHRITHEBWA - BAFEFAER
MEREENEMASWA - REVER

FEZY IAREBELIFERE ELE
BER BEHEALELENE BHEBZER
AR EX RS FEAREERNT

WA/ AR B AR RAAF R

e

DHMEETBRREERBAEE R KR
TEEY EQ$%&AE@Z%@§F

R EH AR %%F&m%é? Sk
ié?ﬁ&ﬁA%ﬁA

TREMER(EE
Ekﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ
H&zFa

L ETEER R

S BRAN) - F&‘ﬁ%ﬁilﬁ

ol %%$E&¢%EL
REAEEER

DEHEHENERLNZ2EUNERTERS
ZHHEZEBMETT -



4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4.

Operating segments

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results based on the types of business:
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ey
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PEER (2)

For the year ended HZ2024F12831R
31 December 2024 LEE
Segment revenue (note 4) 28uEs (74
Sales to external customers RNPEFEE 1,331,362 286,016 161,620 1,778,998
Intersegment sales DEREEE 3,610 116,216 71,414 191,240
1,334,972 402,232 233,034 1,970,238

Reconciliation: Y
Elimination of intersegment sales D EEEHH (191,240)
Revenue Wiz 1,778,998
Segment results PHEE 90,181 48,582 21,780 160,543
Reconciliation: i
Bankinterest income RITFEMA 9,470
Changesinfairvalue o investment AN ENATELH

properties (5,946)
Fair value change of financial assets of &2 &t AR A

fair value through profit or loss SREELTEEY (2,961)
Net foreign exchange loss EHFER (474)
Corporate expenses TERT (23,115)
Share of profits of joint ventures [EREERENE 2,373
Share of profits of associates JERE S DA 378
Finance costs (other than intereston BT SR A (& B &R SRR

lease liabilities) (1,789)
Profit before tax BR 8 AR 138,479
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4.

Operating segments (Continued)

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results based on the types of business: (continued)

31 December 2024

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment receivables
Corporate and other unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment payables

Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities

Total liabilities

Other segment information
Share of profits and losses of:
Joint ventures

Associates

Net impairment losses recognised in
profit or loss

Depreciation and amortisation
Unallocated
Segment

Investments in associates
Investment in joint ventures
Capital expenditure*
Unallocated

Segment

2024128310

THEE

ﬂiﬁ’”ﬁf‘?ﬁt‘ LGS
LEREBAS @Eéé

EE#RE
THEE

ﬁiﬁ"*ﬁf‘??&‘ﬁ
TLEREBRS @Eﬁﬁ

AERE

Hitvp HER
FEAE M R B
NS

H AR T

REZNEDREBR
FE

FrELEH
ADE

51

REE N ERE

REERERE
BARY*
AR

gl

Property
management
business
MEERE
%
RMB’000
ARET R

1,628,034

970,411

2,373
378

35,503

35,139

6,477
5,339

16,887

REFIER (#)

REDER(#)

TREMZEHRLE D

REoM ()

Cleaning

and greening
business
E2R
BILE®
RMB’000
ARBT T

324,502

240,801

5,144

2,788

5,169

Other
businesses

HitiRH
RMB'000
ARETR

191,735

132,941

443

7,769

1,858

Z AR B W am K

Total

it
RMB'000
ARBTR

2,144,271

(713,603)
509,517

1,940,185
1,344,153

(713,268)

211,442
842,327

2,373
378

41,090

917

45,696

6,477
5,339

50
23,914

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and equipment,

investment properties, intangible assets and prepayments for acquisition of

properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4.

Operating segments (Continued)

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results based on the types of business: (continued)

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

ResMER (&

L&D ()

7

R EBRUE D 2 AKE SR

EENT: (E)

Property Cleaning
management and greening Other
business business businesses Total
MEER BEAR
e/ AR Hi %% @ar
For the year ended HZ2023F12831H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2023 LEE ARETFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue (note 4) 7 8 (Fizt4)
Sales to external customers MINBEFHE 1,285,503 263440 160,699 1,709,642
Intersegment sales HEEEE 8,251 146,083 66,778 21,112
1,293,754 409,523 227477 1,930,754
Reconciliation: #i
Elimination of intersegment sales D E R E 8 22112
Revenue Yoz 1,709,642
Segment results PWEE 83421 40,836 18,360 142,617
Reconciliation: #i -
Bank interest income HATHEMA 8,504
Other interest income from BAFEFAERNSH
financial assets at fair value through ~ BEREMFI S WA
profit or loss 117
Changes in fair value of investment RENENLTEES
properties (1,556)
Fair value change of financial assets of & A FE & A
fair value through profit or loss SRMEELTEE (4715)
Net foreign exchange gain B 5% 1898
Corporate expenses PERY (23,521)
Share of profits of joint ventures EihaatENE 2838
Share of profits of associates JE{G B & 1 R F 167
Finance costs (other than intereston BTSN (FAE B EF &
lease liabilities) BRAN (2,694)
Profit before tax BRELRT B 124,709
FREREEFRAR

123
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4.

Operating segments (Continued)

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results based on the types of business: (continued)

31 December 2023

Segment assets

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment receivables
Corporate and other unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment payables

Corporate and other unallocated
liabilities

Total liabilities

Other segment information
Share of profits and losses of:
Joint ventures

Associates

Net impairment losses recognised in
profit or loss

Depreciation and amortisation
Unallocated
Segment

Investments in associates
Investment in joint ventures
Capital expenditure*
Unallocated

Segment

2023128310

HHRE
5%

A BRRAR
PEREMADREE
Azl

A

5%

B34 BRI B
PEREMADEAR
B

2162 B

R TIB R
aE0y

BEAT

RBENERRERR
A

FrEREH
ADE

51

.

REERARRE
REERERE
BEARRX
ADE

D E

Property
management
business
NEER
%%
RMB'000
ARETT

2,050,979

1,193,385

2,838
167

47,622

33,780

8,099
5937

24393

IR

<K
pa ol

D ER(#)

7

<2
FBENW ()
Cleaning
and greening
business
BER
RILEH
RMB'000
ARBTFT

247971

160,209

6,515

3,960

2,726

REIHER &

B RERHELE D 2K

Other
businesses

LS
RMB000
AREBTT

172,208

117,368

4525

2,750

1,893

SHE U M

Total

st
RMB000
ARETT

2471158

(993,262)
589,356

2,067,252
1,470,962

(993,262)

556,845
1,034,545

2838
167

58,662

1,405

40490

8,099
5937

112
29012

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and equipment,

investment properties, intangible assets and prepayments for acquisition of

properties.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, none of the
Group's revenue contributed from a single customers amounted to
10% or more.

Geographical information

Since 100% of the Group's revenue and operating profit were
generated in Mainland China and over 90% of the Group’s non-
current assets were located in Mainland China, no geographical
information is presented in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FEEFEM
HZE2024% %2023F12A31BIEFE - &K
SEXEE-—REFPFNEKRERIHEREIN
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R ANEE100% WS RELEHEFRKRETEH
Wb - BN B #o0% M IE RN EEL T

B A - B AR IR A S B R S 2R
FOREENB2IIHIEEH -

5. Wa - HWA R

WD T
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers KERFPE YRR
Rendering of services RHR 1,769,265 1,700,505
Sales of goods HEE M 9,733 9,137
1,778,998 1,709,642
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 2024412 B 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 5.

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)

126

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Segments

28

Wz - HibA RS #)
REEFEHNRE
22 HF s ER

BZ2024F12A31HLFE

(i)

Types of goods or services ERTRBER

Rendering of services RERE 1,331,362 286,016 151,887 1,769,265

Sale of goods HEEm - - 9,733 9,733
1,331,362 286,016 161,620 1,778,998

Geographical market BT %

Mainland China FEA, 1,331,362 286,016 161,620 1,778,998

Timing of revenue recognition U & 78 32 B

Over time RE—EER 1,331,362 286,016 151,887 1,769,265

Ata point in time RE—RRE - - 9,733 9,733
1,331,362 286,016 161,620 1,778,998

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



5.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continved) 5.

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

8155

=M

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

Wz - HpWg A R Wz @)

REFEFENHN WS &)

(i) EBoHFB=mEERE)
BZE2023F12A318LFE

Property Cleaning
management and greening Other
Segments business business businesses Total
2 MEEEEYE BREREEES B X% B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
Types of goods or services EmTRBER
Rendering of services RERS 1,285,503 263440 151,562 1,700,505
Sale of goods HEEm - = 9,137 9,137
1,285,503 263440 160,699 1,709,642
Geographical market WEME
Mainland China L 1,285,503 263,440 160,699 1,709,642
Timing of revenue recognition U 35 /& 52 B
Over time RE-EHE 1,285,503 263,440 151,562 1,700,505
Ata pointin time RE—RRE 2 - - 9,137 9,137
1,285,503 263440 160,699 1,709,642
hRIREEERAT
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (ontinved) 5. Wz - HEW A R W= ()

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) REEFFEHHWE©)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) EBEoHFWBRERE)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TREFRARENHABROKE S
in the current reporting period that were included in the B ERFARSTHYINENEE

contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

2024
2024 F
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Revenue recognised that was included in contract EEFARERVINEGHNAEED
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: BRI
Sale of goods HEE M@ 9,137
Property management services MEER RS 158,730
167,867
2023
2023
RMB'000
AR T T
Revenue recognised that was included in contract B st ARSI E N AEDN
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: BRI E ¢
Sale of goods HEE M 9,468
Property management services YT B RS 126,221
135,689

—I 28 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Provision of property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing.

Provision of cleaning and greening services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing.

Sales of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days from
customer acceptance of delivered goods.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue. All the transaction
prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations are
expected to be recognised as revenue within one year.
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(iii)
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 5.

Other income and gain

Other income

Hl A

Wz Ht A R z= &)

Ha WA & Wi
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE ARBTET

Bank interest income RITHFIEHA 9,470 8,504

Other interest income from financial assets at BAVTEFABEENEREE
fair value through profit or loss & o Ath R B - 1,171
Rental income iR AN 7,960 10,626
Government grants T 46 b 8,773 13,830
Others HAth 15,292 13,252
41,495 47,383

Gain Wz

Net foreign exchange gain P 5 Y sk ) 58 - 1,898
- 1,898
41,495 49,281

—I 30 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRB AR
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEFEHKRHAFABEE MR GEA) T
I\ :
2024 2023
2024 F 20036
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
i AR¥TR ARETTT
Cost of services provided BREREK A 1,403,834 1,351,086
Cost of goods sold EEEmMAE 8,351 7,998
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors' and & B @ FIF S (TEEEE R
chief executive's remuneration) RRITBRAEHH)
Salaries and other benefits B K2 E A 43 7 767,652 724,902
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ** i Ry i 45,250 43,391
812,902 768,293
Depreciation of items of property and equipment  #1% MR EEB ITE 13 32,722 27,746
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15 4,386 3,909
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hih & iy 20 9,505 10,240
Impairment of financial assets, net TREERMEFE
Net impairment losses recognised on g RN IBRANRE
trade receivables EEFE 23 20,630 26,196
Net impairment losses recognised on Hith JE BB RER BB (E
other receivables EEFE 24 20,460 32,466
Fair value loss on investment properties BEWMENTEER 14 5,946 1,556
Rental income EE A ON 5 (7,960) (10,626)
Net foreign exchange loss R S = VEk 474 -
Lease payments not included in the Rt AMEREHED
measurement of lease liabilities HEMK 5,687 6,359
Fair value change of financial assets of fair BAFEFABRENSH
value through profit or loss BEATEED 2,961 4,715
Bank interest income RITHEHA 5 (9,470) (8,504)
Gains on disposal of items of property and HEMERZERB Mz
equipment (326) (327)
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREMENEE 83 3,715
Auditor's remuneration ZHRB 1,700 2,500
Other interest income from financial assets BAFEFABRNSH
at fair value through profit or loss BEMEMA S WA - 117
Government grants* B fE AL * (8,773) (13,830)
* Government grants include various subsidies received by the Company's * AT 46 8 B 15 7R 1 B Bt B 2 B4R B 4R R AT

subsidiaries from relevant government bodies. There are no unfulfilled

conditions or contingencies related to these grants.

** There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the >
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

RAROTE B - MG B % S Ml BE O R GE AR (R AF S8

R

YEREERSREHIKTEMAEAEES

P E R MR o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BB
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BRI TAT :
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRET ARBTT
Interest on bank borrowings RITIE A B 1,789 2,694
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 578 685
2,367 3,379
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERESTHAEEM

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

BIEBZmES MR EmRAD -
FEB N AEHIEE383(1)@) ~ (b) () Kz () 5 LA
FRARl(BBEESFEER) BOIFE 280 #
BRNAFEESERESTBRABTMNOT

Regulation, is as follows:

Group

rEH
2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®TR AREKTE
Fees we 8,820 8,631

Other emoluments: HEMNs -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e 2MEREYANE 914 1,968
Pension scheme contributions IRIRE R EIHE K 221 145
1,135 2,113
9,955 10,744

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H
8. EERBRSITHAEEHFM»

(@) BUFATES
FABNBUIFATESNESIOT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥®TRT AREKTET

Mr. Yin Weizhong* FE R E 165 80
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral BRIZEE L4 165 161
Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin PR R &4 165 161
Mr. Huang An Xin** TR NG AE - 80
495 482

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

*

*%

In July 2023, Mr. Yin Weizhong was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company.

In June 2023, Mr. Huang An Xin resigned as a non-executive director of
the Company.

FRBELGEMNBIIEFNTESN
B4 (2023 4F : &)

* R203F7 7 FEBELEEZERAR
BJERITEE -

o M2023F6 A BEROEEFEARARAGE
WITESE -

FRIAREEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 B 31 H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EEREBREITHAEFM»
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) BITES FPTEERES
and the chief executive THAE

2024 2024 %
Executive directors: WITES:
Ms. Chen Zhuo REZL 495 - - 16 511
Mr. Liang Bing 2EESE 3,075 458 - 81 3,614
Mr. Long Weimin EARLE 3,075 456 - 72 3,603
6,645 914 - 169 7,728
Non-executive directors; FHTES:
Ms. Jin Keli eRERT 104 - - 6 110
Ms. Xu Yaping RE¥LT 104 - - 6 110
208 - - 12 220
Chief executive: BRITHAS
Mr. Liu Jian el =t 1,495 - - 17 1,512
Salaries,  Equity-settled Pension
allowances and share option scheme Total
Fees  benefits in kind expense  contributions  remuneration

E AN BikE B
we  REWNE  BRERX st Bl i
2023 W3 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB(000 RMB(000
ARBTR  AREBTT ARETT ARETR ARET:R

Executive directors: HiTEE:
Ms. Chen Zhuo Bekt 483 - - 29 512
Mr. Liang Bing 2EESE 3471 456 - 29 3956
Mr. Long Weimin EAREE 3471 456 - 18 3945
7425 912 - 76 8413
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Ms. Jin Keli SRBRT 102 - - 5 107
Mr. Wu Zhihua* REERE 57 - - 3 60
Ms. Xu Yaping oL 45 - - 3 48
204 - - I 215
Chief executive: BRETBAE
Mr. Liu Jian =y 520 - - 34 554
* In July 2023, Mr. Wu Zhihua resigned as a non-executive director of the * M2023F 7R REELEEFEARFE
Company. WITES -
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10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2023: four directors), details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining one (2023: one) highest paid employee who are neither a
director nor a chief executive of the Company are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

hEmEFHESR
FRNRARBHIEEQENAES (0235
MEER)  HHFMEERR L XM
AEEESB R (03F: —B)BEELR
AEEXERBTRAENREHEEN
BT

9.

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARETRE ARETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREMR R 1,205 1,569
Pension scheme contributions BRIKSFTEIHE R 17 16
1,222 1,585

The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employee whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

7B #51,000001 TTE
75 #51,500,000 7T
78 #51,500,001 TTE
7B £ 2,000,000 7T

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000

HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

FEZNFRSTHRABAHFMNFUT
HENKRSHEENHFMMOT

Number of employees

EE A"
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4

INCOME TAX

A provision for PRC Enterprise income tax (the "EIT") has been
provided at the applicable income tax rate of 25% for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: 25%) on the assessable profits of the
Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China, except for those subsidiaries
which enjoyed a lower tax rate as a benefit.

According to the relevant PRC tax regulations, High-New
Technology Enterprise (the “HNTE") operating within a High and
New Technology Development Zone an entitled to a reduced EIT
rate of 15%. A subsidiary is recognised as HNTE during the year
and accordingly, is subject to EIT 15%. The recognition as a HNTE
is subject to review on every three years by relevant government
bodies.

10. FT5%

B ZE2024F12A3BLEFE  PRPZEFT
B (EERER) BEDREREERF
B 7Y b B BT 8B /R B A E ER A ) 2 259 (2023
F:25%)MERMEHETRE  ZERK
HEBEENMBRRBRIM

Rz BEMBEBEER LN &M
TRANEFRMEE ((SHEMmEE])
AERIS%HNEELEMSHRTEE - B
RARAFREERERSDIRMEE - I
RN 5% REREH - =¥ xid
ENREBS=FRRXAEBATEIIHTE

FRIAREEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the
financial statements as no assessable profit was derived from Hong
Kong during both years.

10. Fr8%i (&)

RXMIEFEAREEREABREES
BRRM B ME TR E BN EHIE LB

2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE ARETET

Current tax; BOERFHIA -

EIT EMEH 47,106 53,134
Deferred tax IEERIIR (753) (12,397)
Total tax charge for the year FRAHIBZ M 46,353 40,737

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective rate is as

BRAEE R X B8 AR BB AT AME R
AR ARERREAEON AR Y

follows: R
2024 2023
2024 20236
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRE AR%KTE
Profit before tax & A5 A F)E 138,479 124,709
Tax at the applicable tax rate RERABEGFTENTIA 34,620 31,177
Profits attributable to joint ventures and A R N R (L A
associates (688) (751)
Expenses not deductible for tax ki 4,608 3,918
Tax losses and temporary differences AR IEEE R B EERE
unrecognised 7,374 6,581
Tax losses and temporary differences A AT BRI B T TE 48 %
utilised from previous periods R R (953) (1,310)
Withholding tax on distributable &= [ R B B A /) AT o R K
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries K TR 1,392 1,122
Tax charge for the year FAMEZ 46,353 40,737

The share of tax expense attributable to joint ventures and associates
amounting to RMB688,000 (2023: RMB751,000) is included in “Profits
and losses of joint ventures” and “Profits and losses of associates” in
profit or loss.

] 3 6 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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10.

11.

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group has applied an
applicable rate of 5% in 2024 (2023: 5%). The Group will be liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

DIVIDENDS

Proposed final dividend — HKD2.5 cents
(2023: HKD2.5 cents) per ordinary share

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

10. FR 8% (&)

BIEFRCEMBSH L RPBERMAK T
MINRREDERIBEIEEES RAKE
U 10%TE IR © 2 FRE B 2008F 1 A1 H
HEAE R I A 2007912 A31 B LA HY
B A o n R 3 A 4 BN IR A E FTTE R)
EHEIENKERZE  MTRARK
MIEMRBRE - REBR204FEHKAE
FARLES% (20235 : 5%) - AEEH AR B
2008F 1A 1HEENEFNBAZENPERA
AR ST B BB A B 3 IR B9 IR B AN TEHO B o

11. RE

HREIR B — AR A 2.5
(20234F : 2.5564)

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT
19,572 19,307

During 2024, a dividend of HKD2.5 cents per share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023 was declared by the directors
of the Company and approved in the Company’s annual general
meeting on 31 May 2024. Dividends amounting to approximately
RMB19,572,000 were paid on 5 July 2024 (2023: RMB19,307,000).

The directors of the Company has resolved to recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HKD2.5 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HKD2.5 cents) to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 12 June 2025. The proposed final dividend for the year is subject
to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

R2024F A ARFIEEZED TR 2024
FSANHBTHARAANBRRAEFKS
FHEHE2023F12A31BIEFEMRE
AR 2581l - B2024F 7 ASHE AR A
SEAH AR 19572,0007T (20234 + AR
#19,307,0007C) ©

RAREZHAEZRAHE2024F12A
3NHLEFEMRBRRBE SR 258L (2023
0 25%Al) F2025F 6 B 12 HBH AR E
R ARRE - RFEMERRBR
BAGARRRERERERTBEFAE L
HEE o

FRIAREEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BAREBRESEEAELMESR

138

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent for
the year, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
854,550,000 shares (2023: 854,550,000 shares) in issue during the
year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on:

&
B

—_—

BEREABFNNCENEAFES AR LB
EREBARMGRE UREADRTYE
A% hn #E F 5 £1854,550,000 B% (2023 %F ¢
854,550,000 f%) 5+ & °

BEERBEERNSENAEERNS AR ER
BaERAARGFAFNE FEAAEE
BnEFAHANSFARFEAEERER
BMNzERTERREAE URBERITE
FERMAEBRTEEEBARAERKRRER
ROEBEZITHEBRNEFHE -

AESRERBNSEIDER TIIEE

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETET
Earnings B
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BAREREREE ARGTE
holders of the parent 88,896 80,054
Shares iR 5
Weighted average number of ordinary FRE BT EBRINE T
shares in issue during the year 854,550,000 854,550,000

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the computation
of diluted earnings per share did not include the exercise of the
share options of the Company since the exercise price of the share
options was higher than the average market price of the Company’s
shares during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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31 December 2024

13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

20245128310

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ¥R Y o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

13. MERRE

Cost [PEN
At T January 2024 R2024F1 818 66,143 53,237 66,925 49,942 236,247
Additions B 806 14,064 6,095 2,931 23,896
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - 100 248 49 397
Disposals HE (150) - (2,918) (5,160) (8,228)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 66,799 67,401 70,350 47,762 252,312
Accumulated depreciation ZiE
At 1 January 2024 R2024E1A1R (10,851) (32,050) (47,532) (32,533) (122,966)
Depreciation provided for the year R Pt E (3,047) (12,567) (9,747) (7,361) (32,722)
Disposal HE - - 2,555 3,647 6,202
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A31 R (13,898) (44,617) (54,724) (36,247) (149,486)
Impairment AE
At 1 January 2024 and R2014F1A1AR

31 December 2024 2024F 124318 - - (456) - (456)
Net carrying amount HREFE
At 1 January 2024, net of R2024E1 /18

accumulated depreciation Nk RTE 55,292 21,187 18,937 17,409 112,825
At 31 December 2024, R204F128318

net of accumulated depreciation  HBR 2FHTE 52,901 22,784 15,170 11,515 102,370

RREREEERA

2024 F 3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

b e

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

140

13. MERRE®)

Leasehold Fumniture Motor
Buildings improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
HE &IE
BT MEEE ElE 3% 18 HE CH)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETE ARETR
31 December 2023 2023128311
Cost [DEN
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 518 64,547 37475 66,945 47155 216,122
Additions NE 1876 16,344 1,909 6,142 26271
Disposals HE (280) (582) (1929) (3355) (6,146)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31AR 66,143 53,237 66925 49942 236,047
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 818 (7326) (23,903) (38,245) (28,191) (97,665)
Depreciation provided for the year & RFTETIRITE (3549) (8,147) (9983) (6,067) (27,746)
Disposal & 2% - 696 1725 2,445
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31A (10,851) (32,050) (47,532) (32,533) (122,966)
Impairment R{E
At 1 January 2023 and R2023F1A1AR
31 December 2023 03F12A31H - - (456) - (456)
Net carrying amount BREFE
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1A18
accumulated depreciation Nk ZHTE 57221 13572 28244 18964 118,001
At 31 December 2023, R203F12A318
net of accumulated depreciation % 27T E 55,292 21,187 18937 17409 112,825

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

14. REYE

2024 2023

2024 2023 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TF T AR®TTT

Carrying amount at 1 January K1 AT EREREAEE 161,005 180,713
Additions NE - 1,900
Disposal HE (275) (20,052)
Net loss from fair value adjustments AN EFAEEIEFSE (5,946) (1,556)
Carrying amount at 31 December W12 A3 BREREE 154,784 161,005

Certain investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases.

The Group's investment properties are all situated in Chinese
Mainland. The directors of the Company have determined that the
investment properties include commercial properties, residential
properties and other properties, based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property. The Group's investment properties were
revalued on 31 December 2024 based on valuations performed
by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers, using the
market approach, as at 31 December 2024. Each year, the Group'’s
property manager and the directors decide, after approval from the
audit committee, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group's properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group's property
manager and the directors have discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year when the
valuation is performed for interim and annual financial reporting.

The Group’s investment properties with a carrying value of
RMB95,365,000 (2023: RMB98,981,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group as at 31 December
2024 (note 29).

ETREVEEREBELEHVETE=7 -

REBREMEHUPEAM - KA AE
EERESVENNE BFHELRAREE
WEYH BEBEYE TEWERH
Y% - R2024F12A31H  REBHIK
EMERBEBLE XA ERHEMITHE
BT A R ERER A RN 2024F 12
RA3VBUMIBEEITHEESM FF -
AEBNYELBERESEERZE ]
EBRREZAINBEEMBEARAESEYE
RISNED (B - BB EBREM S AH - &
B2 B IMEEEHBTHEEKTE KEH
MYELEREEERPHBRFTEN B R
FETHER SFRABEMMREERR
D EERETRRE W o

R2024F 12 A3 B AEEEREEAAR
#5 95,365,000 7T (20234 : A R % 98,981,000
T RIREMEDEE - UIEERTAREE
K —MRERTTRLE (FFsE29) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 B 31 H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group's investment properties:

14. REWE &)
NEEBHK
THMBEAEBRENEN AT ETBER -

Recurring fair value IATIBE MR
measurement for: ANTERE
Commercial units [EEEA - - 49,404 49,404
Residential units (E=s)-—ivi - - 99,936 99,936
Other properties Hith 3 - - 5,444 5,444
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using
FRUTEER2023F12A31 BNATFEE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BETISE  BEAUHRE EANATEE
BE B ABUE & A BUR
(5—FE) (FE=R) (B=RE) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT ARETT ARBT:R
Recurring fair value IATIBEMER T
measurement for: ANEERE
Commercial units [EEEAM - - 51,090 51,090
Residential units (E=s¥-—tiv} - - 103,892 103,892
Other properties H i3 - - 6,023 6,023

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3

(2023: Nil).

1 42 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

14. BEYE ®)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEERBR &)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 SEEANTEERFE =R EF2EHE
of the fair value hierarchy:
Commercial Residential Other
units units properties Total
BREQ TEEN Hitg ¥ % st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARE®TR ARETT AR¥ETR
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 R2023F 1 A1 BEEEE 67,878 108,687 4148 180,713
Additions NE = 18 1,882 1,900
Disposal HE (15952) (4,100) . (20052)
Net loss from fair value adjustments AHEARERTE (836) (713) ) (1,556)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 R2023F 124318 K
and 1 January 2024 04F1 A1 EHNEREE 51,090 103,892 6,023 161,005
Disposal HE - - (275) (275)
Net loss from fair value adjustments NEEAREE TR (1,686) (3,956) (304) (5,946)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 2024412 A31 AEREE 49,404 99,936 5444 154,784

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key

input to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation techniques

fhERITS

Commercial units

BREN

Residential units
FEEN

Other properties
H

In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and best

Direct comparison method

HELEBOR

Direct comparison method

BERLEX

Direct comparison method

BB

PR A BRI R

Significant

unobservable inputs

EXRTHBRBARE

Market unit price (RMB'000/sg.m.)
IS ELER

(ANREEF T/ FHK)

Market unit price (RMB'000/sg.m.)
Dk SvEEL

(ANRET T/ F75K)

Market unit price (RMB'000/sg.m.)
5 ELER

(ANREEF T/ FHK)

use of the properties is their current use.

N

Range
&=
2024
2024 5

15-18

12-20

4-9

UTREEMERHEEMBAERD MEE

2023
2023 4F

16-18

13-22

AMERATER NXEEARER
BRERERE

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R
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14.

15.

144

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The direct comparison method is based on comparing the properties
to be valued directly with other comparable properties, which have
recently been asked/transacted. However, given the heterogeneous
nature of properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to
allow for any qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to
be achieved by the properties under consideration.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the market unit price per square
metre would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties.

LEASE

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings used
in its operations. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms
between 5 and 10 years.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

14.

15.

BEWE®)
NEEREBR &)

BERUEBOEDERBHEMERRON
B/ RGOEMATE LB EEERLE -
Al ARDENRENE  BFFEY
AREFEZETYENEBERNEMR
EXEFEERE -

TR H AR TISEMBRAEE I, CR D)
BEBREMERNTEREEMNCRD)

HE
REEEREEA

AEEREZEMANSEETEBEA
MEEH - BFHENBEH RN F5E10
g o

) FEREEE

AEBFERAEEECEFRAERFAE
N

Buildings

BF

RMB'000

ARBTT

As at 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1H 10,111
Additions NE 3,501
Depreciation charge TEXH (3,909)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 MR2023F 12 A31 B X2024F1 A 18 9,703
Additions NE 623
Depreciation charge TEXH (4,386)
As at 31 December 2024 2024512 H31 8 5,940

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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15. LEASE (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under

movements during the year are as follows:

31 December 2024 20244F 12 A 31 B
15. HE @)
AEBIERABA &)
(b) HEEE
HEBBZEREE GIATRERITR
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the HERAN) RFEFNEBMAT :
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

ARBTRE ARETT

Carrying amount at 1 January M1 ATVBZEREE 12,268 12,353
New leases EE 623 3,501
Accretion of interest recognised FAFERE TSI (M E7)
during the year (note 7) 578 685
Payment (BN (6,521) 4,271)
As at 31 December ®12A31 8 6,948 12,268
Analysed into: DR
Current portion BIERER 2> 1,523 8,082
Non-current portion JEBNHAER o 5,425 4,186
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases () REZTHEINHEEMRB@ITELNT :
are as follows:
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HEBEME (M:E7) 578 685
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ {FFAEE EMEF X 4,386 3,909
Expense relating to short-term leases G EAFH E AR X 5,687 6,359
Total amount recognised in profit or loss REmP R KIB B 10,651 10,953
The Group as a lessor AEBEEAEHAEA
The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease REBERBLEEHELHEERIREYE -
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms within five years. The ZERELEERNFHAREUNRN - ILE
terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to pay security HEMNBER—RTEERPZNRER -

deposits.

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R
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15. LEASE (Continued)

15. HE »)

The Group as a lessor (Continued) AEBEREHEA B
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future REBR  RIBEBAPIT WA A TF
minimum lease receivables under operating leases with its tenants HI MK EHE  AEBERRKENR

falling due as follows:

ErRYGRIEAEMT

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREBTET
Within one year —FA 3,382 1,027
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEFNF(BIEEREME) 3,339 2,764
6,721 3,791
16. GOODWILL 16. BHE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Cost A
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 78202341 A 1H » 2023512 A431H »
and 31 December 2024 20241 A1 BX2024F 12 A31 H 243,550
Accumulated impairment ZtEE
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 78202341 A1 H » 2023512 4318 »
and 31 December 2024 20241 A1 B KR 2024512 A31H (18,268)
Net carrying amounts BRERE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023 20244512 431 B 202312 A31 H 225282
Impairment testing of goodwill GEENEAER: B
Goodwill acquired through business acquisitions is allocated to the BREBREMESNEEESRE T
following cash-generating units (“CGU”) for impairment testing: ReELSEMN((REELEEN]) UMERE
B
Ningbo property management service cash-generating unit . ERMEERERBReEESEM([R
(‘CGUA"), EELEMNAD
Guangdong property management service cash-generating . BERMEEERBReEESEMN (R
unit ('CGU ©), SEEEMNC])
Suzhou property management service cash-generating unit . BNmEERERBReEESEM (R
("CGU D’) EELEMND))

—I 46 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Hangzhou property management service cash-generating
unit ("CGQU E")

Huarui property management service cash-generating unit
("CGUF")

Others cash-generating units (“Others”)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H
16. HE #®)

B R E R ()

MMNMEEERGRSELEN (T8
EELEMNE])

EnYEERRBEACELSEU (R
EELEMNF])

HtReELBEM ([Hib))

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

2024 5 2023 5

12H31H 128318

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARBTT

CGU A MEEEBMA 101,083 101,083
CcGuC WEEEEMNC 24,929 24929
CGUD REEEEMND 20,171 20,171
CGUE REeEAEEMNE 14,987 14,987
CGUF HEeEEBAMF 37,637 37,637
Others EAh 44,743 44,743
243,550 243,550
Impairment VEREEN (18,268) (18,268)
Total wst 225,282 225,282

The recoverable amount of those cash-generating units has been
determined based on a current market value calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 17% and the cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2023:
16% and 2%).

ZERCELEMNMIIKESEREE R
MGEBENEET FEFARELESR
EREMNERERAFHH P EEEEL
IR RETRA - ZRERETBREB 17%
IR R R AFHRZARESREF A 2%
(20234 : 16% N 2%) K R R HEH -
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. BHE (#)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the cash-
generating units for 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The
following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake an impairment
testing of goodwill.

The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the revenue from the segment
is the average revenue achieved in the

Budgeted revenue

year immediately before the budget
year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and expected market
development.

Budgeted operating The basis used to determine the values
expenses assigned is the cost of inventories
consumed, staff costs, and other operating
expenses. The values assigned to the key

assumptions reflect past experience and
management’'s commitment to maintain its

operating expenses at an acceptable level.

The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the unit.

Discount rates

The values assigned to the key assumptions on budgeted revenue,
budgeted operating expenses and discount rates are consistent with
external information sources.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of the value in use of the cash-
generating units, management believes that no reasonably possible
change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the
carrying value, including goodwill, of the cash-generating units to
exceed the recoverable amount.

] 48 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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17.

18.

19.

PREPAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF
PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had paid deposits to property
developers of approximately RMB9,259,000 (2023: RMB12,125,000) in
relation to the acquisition of properties situated in Mainland China.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Share of net assets BB EFE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

17. WIBYI=HVTAN =R

R2024%F 128318 REBWEMRF
BAMMNYE RMYEBRRAIGZ2ES
45 ANR#92590007T (20234 : AR
12,125,0007T) °

18. REELENRE

2024 2023

2024 5 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT
5,339 5,937

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of
the Group's joint venture that is not individually material:

TREPAEMOAL LML IENE
RE IS E R -

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE ARETT

Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year FEEF W & &R HE 2,373 2,838
Share of the joint ventures' total EheEhER2E YR

comprehensive income 2,373 2,838
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’'s AEERGERERENAKREE

investment in joint ventures 5,339 5937

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Share of net assets EIEEEFE

19. REEENTNERE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTRE ARETT
6,477 8,099

TREEER AR 149
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. REFE R TNRE (#)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of THRHAPAEENHE QXA IEERIE
the Group's associates that are not individually material: NGOECT R SR
2023
2023 F
RMB'000
AR®TTT
Share of the associates’ profit for the year JE 1k F B & R B R 378 167
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive il NI TN
income 378 167
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBRBEARIRENEREE
investments in associates 6,477 8,099
20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20 HttBF&EE

31 December 2024 202412 A31H
At 1 January 2024 Mm2024F1 18 :
Cost BN 121,724 14,234 135,958
Accumulated amortisation Rt (86,605) (7,721) (94,326)
Net carrying amount REFE 35,119 6,513 41,632
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of 202451 A1TEA -
accumulated amortisation ks 25T 35,119 6,513 41,632
Addition NE - 69 69
Amortisation provided during FNFTRT R
the year (7,893) (1,612) (9,505)
At 31 December 2024 MR2024% 12 A31H 27,226 4,970 32,196
At 31 December 2024: MR2024F12 8318 ¢
Cost XA 121,724 14,303 136,027
Accumulated amortisation RET (94,498) (9,333) (103,831)
Net carrying amount BREFE 27,226 4,970 32,196

1 5 O ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

20. HEELEE &)

Acquired
property
management Software
contracts  and trademark Total
FrERS ¥ 2
BEAH K iz 4T
31 December 2023 2023412 A31H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T ARETT AREBTT
At 1 January 2023: M2023F1H18 :
Cost BN 121,724 13,281 135,005
Accumulated amortisation R (77,929) (6,157) (84,086)
Net carrying amount FREFE 43,795 7,124 50,919
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of M2023F 1 A1 HKA
accumulated amortisation Ik Rat sy 43,795 7,124 50,919
Addition NE - 953 953
Amortisation provided during the AP st IR B 45
year (8,676) (1,564) (10,240)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12 A318 35119 6,513 41,632
At 31 December 2023: 72023128318 ¢
Cost AR 121,724 14,234 135,958
Accumulated amortisation E i (86,605) (7,721) (94,326)
Net carrying amount REDFE 35,119 6,513 41,632

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 21. EEBREEE (BE)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year FRNELERBEEERBENESNT

are as follows:

Deferred tax assets EERIEEE

At 1 January 2024 Ru4E1A18 3,067 65,926 = 2,619 2,703 5416 19,731

Credited/{charged) tothe staterment AR 2ERERFA/ (1)

of comprehensive income during
the year (1,330) 1,002 - 953 (270) (1,513) (1,158)

At 31 December 2024 RUOME1LA3A 1,131 66,928 = 3,512 2433 3,903 18,573

1 5 2 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A 31 H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) Continves) 21, IEEHRBEE (BE) (&)
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIEEE

At1 January 2024 R204E1A1R (17,868) (9,044) (6,440) (2,426) (35,778)
Credited/(charged) to the ERAREANERR

statement of comprehensive  HHEE A/

income and other transfers (M)

during the year (139) 995 (1,392) 941 405
At 31 December 2024 2024 F 128318 (18,007) (8,049) (7,832) (1,485) (35,373)

FRIARKEEHRAD A
w153



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) Continved) 21, IBEERIEBEE (BE) &)

Deferred tax assets BIEMIBEE
2023
W35
Losses
Allowance available
for doubtful for  Depreciation
debtson offsetting ~ allowancein
trade Fair value against excess of Other
Lease and other change of future related payable
liabilities  receivables FVIPL profits ~ depreciation  and accruals Total

BoRMAER  BATE  AREH
AEMGE  GABRN  RKAE BRRENE HtEEFE
HEaE MHRERE ATEEY REE WRERE REGER )
RMB000 RMBO0O RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO00 RMBO00
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 203 RABEIA1A 3088 51210 465 1309 1615 49 62610

Credited/(charged) tothe statement — EARSERERA/ (1K)
of comprehensive income during
the year 1) 14716 (465) 1310 1,088 493 17121

At 31 December 2023 ROBF1ANA 3067 05926 - 2619 2703 5416 19731

'I 54 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continved)  21. EERIBEE (B E) ()
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBEE
2023
WBE
Fair value Withholding
change of taxon
investment Intangible undistributed Right-of-use
properties assets earnings assets Total
REMEN REDE
AIEEY BV AE ANBEAH EREEE &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2023 M0BF1R1B (11,995) (11,213) (5318) (2528) (31,054)
Credited/(charged) to the FARZENERR
statement of comprehensive  EftEZE A/
income and other transfers (k)
during the year (5873) 2169 (1122 102 (4724)
At 31 December 2023 R203F128318 (17,868) (9,044) (6,440) (2426) (35,778)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities HEJNENME  ETEREEMRBEERSE
have been offset in the statement of financial position. The following BERMBARARPEIE AT RATBE
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial R E A BAASBIRERIEARKN DT -
reporting purposes:
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
12A31H 12H318
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AREKTE
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidatedB’\?v?él\ B R R
statement of financial position REFIBE EFE 77,093 76,864
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the A ,if?;/:l\ MR R R ER
consolidated statement of financial position EET I B EF R (33,893) (32,911)
43,200 43,953
FREREEFRAR
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21.

22.

156

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following item:

Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 7 FERR ) 75 18 &5 18 & B s 1 = 58

21, EEREBEEE (B6) ®)

AAATHEEBROBRERBEE :

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 5
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTT
192,156 166,472

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses arising in
Mainland China could be carried forward for a period of five years to
offset against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above item as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the above item can be utilised.

At 31 December 2024, deferred tax liabilities of RMB7,832,000 (2023:
RMB6,440,000) have been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in
Mainland China. Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors of
the Company, these subsidiaries would not distribute any earnings
derived up to 31 December 2015 and 75% of the earnings from 1
January 2016 onwards will not be distributed. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was RMB540,356,000 (2023: RMB468,753,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials R

BIRABDERER - RN B A E TR
B 1E Al A8 S B B S AR B AR SR FE AR T A o

AMALEBERBELEHREE AR
R LR B AR B A LA SRR A -

R2024F 128318 EMAEERHPRHA

HFTRRH B~ B RE L &N (CRBBEHR)
MENEHNHEREERERBARYE

7,832,000 7T (2023 4F : AR #6,440,0007T) °
BBEARAEETT—HEAEE ZENB
NAETEDIRIEETFE2015F 12 A31 BHY
EF - mBE2016F1 A1 BRI EFI75%
BTEDR - BERECHREEEENFH
Wik B ARIRER S RN Y R Z5E4E%E
A AR #540,356,000 7T (20234 : AR
468,753,0007C) ©

AR B A E R AN B B AT SRR

22, 7€

31 December 31 December
2024 2023

2024 & 2023 5
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFT
9,072 6,253

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

23. EZEWRRIE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 4F

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARET T

Trade receivables 5 W IE 659,920 671,760
Impairment BIE (154,056) (133,426)
505,864 538,334

Trade receivables mainly arise from property management service
and other businesses income. The credit period is generally one
month, extending up to three months for major customers. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management and credit limits attributed to
customers are reviewed once a year. In view of the aforementioned
and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

BRRRFABTIZREMEEEREME
EELE - FEM-—KRA—MEA =
EPFRZALERE=@A BUTFPIA
EREEEE AKESRKHEREERRE
WHRIBEFBRBERE  URIEEEE
FIAREEERR BHESRHSRER
BEHET MEFPHNEERBRESFR
Af =R e SR A LT R RN R B E 5 R UL
RERRZIRAEFAR RABALEEX
STHNEERR - BHRUFARRE

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the RIEBRR  RAFBNEAHFENE
reporting period, based on the date of demand note, net of loss SEBFIENREBERENRE T

allowance, is as follows:

31 December

31 December

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 4F

12HA31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TRT ARKTET

Within 1 year TR 386,168 405,796
110 2 years 1224 61,144 69,879
Over 2 years iR 2 58,552 62,659
505,864 538334

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R

157



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are as

3. E5 RWREIE &)

BHREGABERENEZHNT

follows:
2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
At beginning of year F4 (133,426) (107,430)
Impairment loss, net BEEE TR (20,630) (26,196)
Amount written off as uncollectible WEE AT KER S EE - 200
(154,056) (133,426)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are
not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

REWE B RRABBREETREDN
Uit ERHEERE - BEXLERAES
BUBBRREANZEEF 2 8BAR aEa
REEE (NEFPER) - Xt ERBREA
ENMEGER EBRFERNKREBEHAE
MB BB E IR - E R MR SRR 15
HEANGERAEEN - —KRME " &
ZRYGRIAEME NE B —F RBAZRN
58 BB T TR B B T LABKEH o

TR AKEEHBRBRETENES

the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)

As at 31 December 2023

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)
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REEEBREX
FEHAEARETT)
EHMEEER(ARETI)

BHEEBRE
FEAEARETT)
BHEEER (AR TT)

FEYRIBER(E B R R

M 2024F12HA31H

B

Less than 1to2 Over
1year years 2 year Total
DPR1EF 1225 BiE25F gt
6% 17% 67% 23%
408,658 73,957 177,305 659,920
22,490 12,813 118,753 154,056

2023512 A31H

Less than 1to2 Over
1 year years 2 year Total
DR1E 1828 EiA 2 F e
6% 13% 61% 20%
431472 80,619 159,669 671,760
25,676 10,740 97,010 133,426



24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

24, FARFRER H A EWRIE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRE AREKTET
Payment on behalf of customers to utility suppliers RKERBEF R AR EEEEE AR 74,928 97,024
Deposits paid to utility suppliers MARSEHERIANES 47,122 41,391
Other receivables (note) e U R IE (M) 185,635 217,564
Prepayments SRS 68,068 72,270
Other tax recoverable H A Uk Bl 7 IR - 340
375,753 428,589
Less: Impairment allowance W R E R (114,400) (93,940)
Total HEt 261,353 334,649
Less: non-current portion B IEREIE S (12,566) (17,623)
Current portion mENEL > 248,787 317,026

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

H W FRREEBEEGENESHMT

2024 2023

2024 F 20236

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AREKTE
At beginning of year REFA) (93,940) (61,474)
Impairment loss, net WEEEFE (20,460) (32,466)
At the end of year FR (114,400) (93,940)

Note:

Prepayment and other receivables mainly represent payment on behalf of customers for
expenditure on communities’ facilities, long-term performance bonds, bidding deposit
for contracts, business-related prepayments and balances with other independent third
parties. The business-related prepayments and balances with other independent third
parties of approximately RMB50,215,000 were pledged by certain residential properties,
commercial properties and car parking spaces, the fair value of those collateral pledged
was approximately RMB18,603,000 and the allowance for expected credit loss of
approximately RMB31,612,000 had been made.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the above loss allowance was HK$111,467,000
(2023: HK$87,005,000) related to the loss allowance recognised for credit-impaired
other receivables. The increase in loss allowance was primarily attributable to the
expected credit loss on the aforesaid business-related prepayments and balances with
independent third parties.

Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The average loss
rate for 12-month ECLs applied as at 31 December 2024 is 1.7%. The loss rate applied as
at 31 December 2023 ranged from 3% to 30%.

BAE -

FENFIEREMERFEEZESRE L IR RIES
i REBAORZS AHORERES ¥ HE@E
NREREME L F =44 - EEHEBENRBERE
MIBILE = HEHBOARKES0215000LHE TEED
¥ WEDNEREMEAEF ZSERLOHQTFELD
ABARM186030007T - WEAEH B EEBEREELD
AR #31,612,0007T °

M2024F 128318 A L EB2E#E R 111,467,000 7%
7T (2023 4F © 87,005,000/ 7T) B HEFERAENE
fh FEU B RE R IR - BIEEFERNEERAR
FMEBHEENREREBY S = A EHNEREE
B8 -

FEHEEBENSEANEENE L BECRERBER
SEARET o BERRERIEE RRIELAEURBRE AR
oS R RAC RO 9 TER TR 2024 F 12 AVHEA K
NREAEREEBETIOEEER17% R 2023512
A3 BEAMEEEN T 3%ZE30% -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25. BAFEFABEZENERMEE

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 4F

12H31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREBTRT ARETT

Bank financial product RITERE D - 500
Financial assets at fair value BEAVEFABENEMEE

through profit or loss (a) - 2,461

Atend of year RER - 2,961

(@ The Company has put options to dispose of the acquired
100% equity interest in certain subsidiaries to the original
non-controlling equity holders. The fair value of the options
were adjusted based on the future financial performance of
subsidiaries. The options were classified as a financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2023. As the
respective guaranteed profits were fulfilled as at 31 December
2024, the put options were lapsed.

—I 60 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances B& MIBITER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥R R MY o

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

26. HERREEEY

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 5
12HA31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTT
545,156 531,583

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB538,145,000
(2023: RMB517,913,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

The Group collects deposits from certain community residents to
establish daily repair and maintenance funds in accordance with the
relevant rules and regulations in the PRC.

All of the deposits collected are required to be kept in designated
bank accounts under the name of the relevant subsidiaries of the
Group though the deposits collected and the related interest income
belong to the community residents. Pursuant to the property
management agreements between the Group and the community
residents, the withdrawal and use of the funds are subject to
approval by the community residents. As the monies maintained for
daily repair and maintenance funds are not controlled by the Group,
they are not recorded as bank balances by the Group. As at 31
December 2024, RMB23,760,000 (2023: RMB21,766,000) was kept in
the daily repair and maintenance funds on behalf of the community
residents.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The cash and bank balances and pledged bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

RMERR REBUARBAFENRS
IR ZEEY A AR 538145000 7T (2023
F: AR¥5179130007T) ° ARETT A
EREBRAEMER A REFBER
b SN B IR B R A B - S 0E R T IEE R
HE TEBEGESRERBETINEE
BRIRITHEARB I AEMEY -

AREBRZEHBEBERYFOERAE T
BEERKERS URIBEHEERRE
o

BEMUREEZSREBFERATBHLR
BERAES FTAMMKREERSHEANRE
ERENBARMNEETAETRITERS -
BREAEERTEERITLNYDEEER
FORDEFRAESASGHRERIE -
ARTFRIEEE#IERRERESHRIEIE
REBES  MTHAEERLREARITLE
o R2024F 12 A31H EREEERE
R # AR 23,7600007T (20234 : AR
21,766,00070) F AR BHIERREESD -

RITMESENET BRITERMNEZFHF
KEMAE - R MBITHEBK LD ERR
TR TR T HER C s r (5 B 8
EHIRIT »

PREEARIESD 6]



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 705 R R B

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. EZEANARER
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RBERR REZAHFENESHERN
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: RIEMERESTOT :

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
12A31H 128311
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARKTE
Within 60 days 60 HIA 75,611 92,672
Over 60 days and within 180 days HBiBme0 B X180 HA 5,019 3,517
Over 180 days and within 365 days #Bi® 180 B K365 HA 7,196 6,022
Over one year HAIA —F 8,906 7,957
96,732 110,168
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and normally settled on B SRENFIEATTER —MKMN30EH
terms of 30 to 90 days. NE1E -
The fair values of trade payables approximate to their carrying HRIBABEEESE  WE SENREN
amounts due to their relatively short term maturity. AFEEERmERES
28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. Hit BN RIBEREFEH
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024 20236
12A31H 12H31H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5% AR®TR AREKTE
Contract liabilities aRaE @ 94,205 167,867
Receipts on behalf of community MoREERAERER
residents for utilities (L&A 148,670 246,474
Received in advance TEMFRIE 11,910 14,533
Accruals et E M 164,778 155,949
Other payables H e IR © 13,714 15,003
Deposits received BliES 54,593 57,523
Dividends payable to non-controlling B A R IE R AR R 8
shareholders of subsidiaries JET IR B 2,436 1,046
Amounts due to non-controlling equity FET BT BB A B SR I i
holders of subsidiaries B ARRIE (b) 3,008 3,385
Due to the ultimate holding company FEAS AR A B R B 36 13,810 14,046
Other tax payables H IR 32,536 26,904
539,660 702,730
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28.

29.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TR M

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued) 28. HttENFIERESER &)

Notes: B 5E
(@) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: @) R2024% 12 A31 H K2023F 12 A31ANAN A
EHFNT -
31 December
2023
2023 F
12A318
RMB'000
ARETF T
Advances received from customers Bl E PR
Sale of goods HEEM 9,700 9,137
Property management services ¥ ERRT 84,505 158,730
Total contract liabilities (note 4) B EERE () 94,205 167,867
Contract liabilities include advances received to deliver property management EHEBREARMEYEEERBEAREEE
services and sales of goods. iU B B EARK o
(b) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's amounts due to non-controlling (b) R2024F 128318 R2023F 128318 * A%

equity holders of subsidiaries included outstanding consideration payables in
respect of the Group's acquisition of the equity interests in the subsidiaries from
those non-controlling equity holders which are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed term of repayment.

(0 Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.
INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29.
BORROWINGS

Current ke

Lease liabilties (note 15 (b)) BEAR (I 50) 4.75-5.25 2025
Bank loans — secured FITER —HHA 345 2025
Bank loans — unsecured FITER—BHA 32 2025
Non-current E3:1) 1

Lease liablties (note 15 (b)) BEAR (5H150) 475525  2026-2032

©

B A RFERER A ANFTEEER
SEMZEFEREZBFEARBHE QAR
EMENHREERE  EAREKR 28 RY
EEEERAR -

HENAREEN 2o RAREREER-

TERITRHEMER

2023
W35
Fffective
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000

BRI HER  AR%TR

1,523 475-906 2024 8082
40,000 38-585 2024 39,000
5920 3.75-6.00 2024 9,990
47,483 57072
5,425 475-9.06 2025-2032 4186
5,425 4186

52,868 61,258
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29, sTESRTREMER &

BORROWINGS (Continued)

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
12A31H 12H318
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARKTET
Analysed into: Paxiiv= I
Bank loans repayable: AR TEREZEMNRITER
Within one year or on demand —FANIREK 45,920 48,990
45,920 48,990
Other borrowings repayable: ZAPA AT BAPR 18 12 A B b fE 5K -
Within one year or on demand —FANIREL 1,523 8,082
Beyond two years, inclusive MEN E(BEME) 5,425 4,186
6,948 12,268
52,868 61,258
The Group's bank loans were secured by the pledges of the Group's REEBRITERARRAREE R 2024F
assets with carrying values at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 12A31HX2023F 12 A31 B THBREIER
2023 as follows: BEERER:
31December 371 December
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
12A31H 12H318
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5% AR®TRET AREKTE
Investment properties A 14 95,365 98,981
As at 31 December 2024, all the Group’s borrowings were R2024F 128318 AEEMEBRHIN
denominated in RMB. ARMEEHE -
The bank borrowing balances of the Group bore interest at fixed REERIRITIE RS RIREEFEET R -
rates.
The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing bank borrowings at FFERITEEMN RERNEAEEALQF
fixed rates approximate to their fair values. BEEE -

—I 64 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. BRA
Shares % 13
Nominal
Number of value of
ordinary HKDO0.01
shares each
BREE
EBEREE 0.017& T
HKD'000
T
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 72023F1A1H - 2023F12A31H
and 31 December 2024 202412 A31H 8,000,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 M2023F1H1H 2023 12H31H
and 31 December 2024 202412 A318 854,550,000 8,545
2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREKTE
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE:
Ordinary shares T iE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 720231 H1H - 2023F12H31H
and 31 December 2024 K& 2024%F 12 A31H 7,082 7,082

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

31. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

(a)

(b)

()

166

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the PRC
subsidiaries’ articles of association, each subsidiary registered
in the PRC as a domestic company is required to appropriate
10% of its annual statutory net profit as determined under
generally accepted accounting principles of The People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC GAAP") after offsetting any
prior years' losses to the statutory surplus reserve. When the
balance of this reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s capital,
any further appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve can
be utilised to offset prior years' losses or to increase capital.
However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after these
usages.

Other reserve

The amount represented the contribution from Mr. Liu Jian,
the controlling shareholder and director of the Company,
through transferring his 40% equity interest in Guangdong
Zhong Ao, a subsidiary of the Company, to Mr. Long Weimin
and Mr. Liang Bing, both being directors of the Company and
employees of Guangdong Zhong Ao in 2011.

Special reserve

The special reserve mainly arises from (i) deemed contributions
by the shareholders in previous years’ Group reorganisation
and non-controlling equity holders to the Group; (i) difference
between the consideration paid by the Group and the
additional share of net assets in subsidiaries acquired from
non-controlling equityholders; (iii) divestment of interests
in subsidiaries; (iv) capital contribution from non-controlling
equity holders.

The special reserve arised in the current year mainly represents
(i) the divestment of interest in a subsidiary; and (ii) the
difference between the consideration paid by the Group and
the additional share of net assets in subsidiaries acquired from
non-controlling equityholders.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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32. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

interests are set out below:

32.

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

BEEAFEREZNDIHER
b 8 2 =]
RSB S B A SR AR 25 0 B A )
BRI

]_jﬁi

2024 2023
2024 F 2023

Percentage of equity interest held by IEERERFIIERIER DL

non-controlling interests:

Suzhou House Construction BINEE 40.6% 40.6%
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

Profit for the year allocated to
non-controlling interests:

D ECE IR B A
FAFE

ARBTRE ARETT

Suzhou House Construction BINEE 6,600 5676
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RIRE B BRI

interests at the reporting date: =M RET 4
Suzhou House Construction HINEE 37,802 31,510

Y 67
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

32. BMEEAFEREZNHB2ES
V= RNGIRE )

32. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

TRHEARA B AL RSN ED A
BB R AR o

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information
of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests.

P B RAIERRIBEIH :

The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

Suzhou House

Construction

BmMER

RMB’000

2024 2024 F AR¥TR
Revenue & 155,746
Total expenses EEEE (139,490)
Profit for the year FRFHE 16,256
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEHRALEE 16,256
Current assets mMEVEE 197,964
Non-current assets EMENEE 6,390
Current liabilities nBBE (111,246)
Net cash flows from operating activities KETEBFBRESREFE 1,462
Net cash flows used in investing activities KREGBFARSREFH (284)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEFREFMARESMEFHE (3,893)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEVRLDFE (2,715)

Suzhou House
Construction

EINEE

RMB'000

2023 20236 ARETTT
Revenue e 148,968
Total expenses B8 (135,123)
Profit for the year FRFE 13,845
Total comprehensive income for the year FAEEBRALE 13,845
Current assets MEVEE 179,259
Non-current assets IETEEE 7,322
Current liabilities mENa & (109,727)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBFERENEFHE 5638
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEEHMAREREFH (129)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEZHFAReNEFE (31,094)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReMBFEWRD FHE (25,585)
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB623,000 (2023:
RMB3,501,000) and RMB623,000 (2023: RMB3,501,000),

respectively.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B F5 R T A

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

33. MEBRERERHF

@) EEBFRERSH

FR-ANEBHFIHEMIER S FER
BEERHEEAEAR®G623,0007T
(20234 : AR#3501,000T) R AR
5 623,000 7T (2023 FF + A R # 3,501,000

JT) °
Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METEBFELEEENEH
activities
Interest-
Lease bearing bank
liabilities borrowings
HEEE FHERTER
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T
At 1 January 2024 M2024F1H1H 12,268 48,990
Changes from financing cash flows MERSMEMELSS (5,943) (3,070)
New leases HE 623 -
Interest expense FERX 578 1,789
Interest paid classified as ENFMESERBMERSRE
financing cash flows (578) (1,789)
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A31 H 6,948 45,920
Interest-
Lease bearing bank
liabilities borrowings
HERE FRERITERX
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
At 1 January 2023 20231 A1 H 12,353 48,990
Changes from financing cash flows MERSREMEL (3,586) -
New leases EE 3,501 -
Interest expense FERX - 2,694
Interest paid classified as ENMESEARERERE
financing cash flows - (2,694)
At 31 December 2023 72023512 431 H 12,268 48,990

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R

169



W =

-

" NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSSR M5

31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. 8B & REXRMHT @)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c HERESRLBHEEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of STARESRERANEER S RLE
cash flows is as follows: B
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Within operating activities KETEBRN 5,687 7,044
Within financing activities AEEBA 6,521 3,586
12,208 10,630
34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34. REE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as of 31 December HE2024F12A318 AEBIWEE KK
2024 (2023: Nil). RBME(Q023F &) -
35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EREE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the RERAR  NEBEBUTEREAE :

reporting period:

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARKTE
Contracted, but not provided for: BETA) - B RETIREE -
Acquisition of property and equipment and W RREREEMEEE
leasehold improvements = 615
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 36. BAEK S X5 RAEER

BALANCES

(a) Related party transaction (@ BEEAIXRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the RUBHRESERREEN  AEER
Group had the following related parties’ transactions during FHANEANTHEBARS :
the year:
The ultimate holding company has made advance of HERERAREMASEEBZARLA
approximately RMB13,810,000 (2023: RMB14,046,000) to the R #13,810,0007T (2023F : AR ¥
Group which is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed term 14,046,0007T) * % FRIE S EIEKIE - 5
of repayment. BREEFEENRA -

(b) Compensation to key management personnel b) ATFTETEEEAENIHE
The remuneration of key management personnel during the FANTEEBRAEBNFHOT

year was as follows:

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRE ARKTET
Short-term employee benefits HEEEEA 15,401 14,958
Post-employment benefits BEER 1248 A 306 151
15,707 15,109
The remuneration of key management personnel is FTEBEEBAENTWHIZBEARER
determined by reference to the performance of individuals MISBHAEE -

and market trend.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. €@ T A (3ZEH)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EH eI ENRERRMREEBELNT

instruments as at the end of the reporting year are as follows:

31 December 2024 202412 H31H
Financial assets EREE

Trade receivables (note 23) g 5 R WRIR (M 5E23) 505,864 - 505,864
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABED

through profit or loss (note 25) S RbE E (FIsE25) - - -
Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) RERBRSEEY (MFE206) 545,156 - 545,156
Long-term deposits (note 24) REF R (BT 24) 12,566 - 12,566
Financial assets included in prepayments  &F AFB A< Z0IB K E A & Uk

and other receivables (note 24) HIEMSBEE (M:E24) 180,719 = 180,719

1,244,305 - 1,244,305

Financial liabilities =N

Financial liabilities included in other FTAEMENFIERETERLN
payables and accruals (note 28) +EEE (FE28) 412,919 412,919
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 29) T BRITE R (HFE29) 45,920 45,920
Lease liabilities (note 29) HE&E (FisE29) 6,948 6,948
Trade payables (note 27) B 5 e FRIE (Fist27) 96,732 96,732
562,519 562,519
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. €T B (RER) (&)

(Continued)

31 December 2023

2023512 A31 H

Financial assets TREE
Financial
assets
Financial at fair value
assets at through
amortised profit
cost or loss Total
R SH R AR BAFEE
AEMER  FTABRH
BE TREE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARBTET
Trade receivables (note 23) 2 5 e RIE (M3t 23) 538,334 - 538,334
Financial assets at fair value BATEGAERRN
through profit or loss (note 25) R EE (7E25) - 2,961 2,961
Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) Re kRS EEY (FizE26) 531,583 - 531,583
Long-term deposits (note 24) REEFER (3T 24) 17,623 - 17,623
Financial assets included in prepayments &t A& 15 FR I8 Kz E b & Uk
and other receivables (note 24) RIER S B EE (FizE24) 244416 _ 244416
1,331,956 2,961 1,334917
Financial liabilities TREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
ATERESR
=N et
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®ETT
Financial liabilities included in other FFAEMENREREFERAN
payables and accruals (note 28) B8 & (fisE28) 507,959 507,959
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 29) FHEIRITER (H5E29) 48,990 48,990
Lease liabilities (note 29) HEBE (FsE29) 12,268 12,268
Trade payables (note 27) B 5 RIE (M5 27) 110,168 110,168
679,385 679,385
FRIREBERAT

2024 F 3R
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38. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHYOF 38. ®MiTEMAFERAFEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial REEEEEATECERENSRIAN -
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably AEBSHTAMNEAMAERAFERT -

approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
fREE A¥E
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20234 2024 2035
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR®TT ARBTRT ARETRL

Financial assets SHEE
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZ
through profit or loss EREE

- 2,961 - 2,961

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee.
At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines
the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the directors. The valuation process and results
are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2024
was assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
have been calculated using Monte Carlo simulation with rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities.

Management has assessed that the fair values of the interest-
bearing bank borrowings with fixed rates which approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the fact that these borrowings
are made between the Group and independent third-party financial
institutions based on prevailing market interest rates.

Management has also assessed that the fair values of the Group's
other financial instruments approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range
fHER % EXTHHEGARE #E
Financial assets at fair Monte Carlo Discount rate
value through profit simulation
orloss method
BRVEFABRZN FHRE BB E 2023 % © 16%-18%
tREE REER

2023:16%-18%
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38. eI TEMNATFTERATFERR

(%)

SRR R EMERMIERNBIB YA FE
ENFEREELUGKR EERBREGBTE
RERZ TERK Z TR EREEFTAKR
SREFTHEME - R2024F 128318 -
AEBZFBBEITREMERNTELR
BAEEATFEEZSWFEALTERK -

BATEIAERNCBEENATED
EREHFREERLE LRAENER
REBBLUER - EEEB R T 588
BT B F% -

EREEATHARTEEAEERNA
FHEELEEBERAE TEARZEER
A EB  E = MAS R BB T
Wl TIELR

BEENCOHE AREEMESBTAN
AFEEREEERS  TEHRZFT
BHZIH A AR B P -

LTAReEMTAGFENERTAERE
N B A 2248 (R 72 2024 FE % 2023 4E 12 A 31
BHSLERE DT

Sensitivity of fair value to the input

ATEEBAENEBE

2023: 1% increase/decrease in discount rate
would result in a decrease/increase in fair
value by RMB36,447/RMB44,084

20235 : BEER I, WD 1%
BHEHAFERD, /LN
AR 3644778,/ AR 44084 T
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’'s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2023

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

DNFEER

BATEFENEE
2023812 A31H

Fair value measurement using

ERATEENATENE

3. TSR TENAFERAFEER

THREALEESR T AN HETEER:

Quoted

prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

ARG EATBRRE EATATER
WE PN ¢ i A
(F—E) (=) (=)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETTE AREBTT ARETT
BAFEGFABERN
TREE - - 2,961

Total

a5t
RMB'000
ARETR

2,961
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's financial instruments include financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents, other payables
and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
financial assets included in prepayment and other receivables, trade
and bills receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings.

No sensitivity analysis of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
is presented as a reasonably possible change in interest rate would
not have significant impact on profit or loss of the Group.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposures to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in RMB except for those owed and incurred by the
Company and subsidiaries which are dominated in United States
dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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AEENESRTABEEZAFESARR
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IR B2 ENRT ATER IR R At FE WK
ENEREE B HRYEGRMERRE
KRB ZEMNKIA -

AEBEEMIAEENTIERBR AN EKME
o SNERRR - EERBR MRS EZER
EXEe R ERYRSEREZARNK
R ABBRRBELT -

B

AEBEAENTSMNEESRG T 2R
REBHHRRITERER -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. €RiEMEEEERKE &)

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets
and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

FERR

AEEERERAREERINE=THE
IXRZ - AEENRERMEMBENEE
FHRETRINEFPUFREXEFERZR
Frebdh SRBEIFRUGRIAKRE M
AEERHNRRARLTEX -

B KRR K R R &

TREHIN2024F12 A31H K% 2023F12 A
NHEHRASEEERENEEEELM
HRMNEAEERR WHEENBHE
BAKE (BAXBEZRARE HEN A #
BEMERBRIN  RFERBESIDDLE -
FrEFeEAeREENBREMERME
ERAEHFABEHEERR -

At 31 December 2024 RH2024%12A31A8

Trade receivables* B 5 R - - 659,920 659,920
Financial assets included in SABNFER

prepayments and other Hiplsam

receivables SREE

— Normal** — L 165,047 - - 165,047

— Doubtful** — R - 122,848 - 122,848
Cash and bank balances ReRFITHES 545,156 - - 545,156
Long-term deposits REER 12,566 7,224 - 19,790

722,769 130,072 659,920 1,512,761
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H

30. REAREEBEEREBE &)

RAREBRFREERE D (&)

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 78 5
FEEE 2HBHEESSE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PEER 1 P&z 2 PEER3 % Bat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETTL ARETT AREFT AREFT
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H
Trade receivables* B 5 EE* - - - 671,760 671,760
Financial assets included in FABNFER
prepayments and other HipElram
receivables SHEE
— Normal** —EE~ 217,115 - - - 217,115
— Doubtful** — RE* - - 119,074 - 119,074
Cash and bank balances ReRRITHEH 531,583 - - - 531,583
Long-term deposits REER 17,624 - 2,166 - 19,790
766,322 - 121,240 671,760 1,559,322
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for * MAEBEREREREENE 5 ERKIEM

impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 24 to
the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments and other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there
is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group. The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, long-term deposits, trade
and bills receivables and other receivables, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables and financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables are disclosed in note 23 and
note 24, respectively, to the financial statements.

5 UBEEE SRR AR NER SRR

5E24 °

> ReMAEYEAY  BYSBEANBRERERE

B ERREERMBRE KR

IS RUP S E)

HIEREMEYGRRIENEREEFRER
WERER] B SREENEREARRK

BERIRE] -

AEBEUTEEREEETRR AEEHE
feRMEE (BRASIREEEY &N
Tk~ B 5 REWGA M BRI IA M E
FEMRIR) MEERER S ES F RO ME
£ BRARBRERSERZEFTANKEE -

BRASBEMERNE S REEENA
BENFREREBEERENEREEME
EMEERBNE - P EEBEN FIWE

B FSSRR M FE 23 R M aE 24 ©

FRIAREEERAT
2024 F 3R
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

180

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank

borrowings. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end of
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments,

was as follows:

REETER

30. S RiEREEBEERBE &)

AEENERRUERTERERES

FEE MR BRI T - 1]

= o
BEEER o

A B
Sra)==}

(GBS

AEBERNHEHRRBREDFTOBERTRM
FOEHMEBENIHARAT

On demand
or within Over

1year 1to 5 years 5years Total

RERR
15K 1E5%F 5 E et
31 December 2024 202412 H31H RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTR AR®TrR
Interest-bearing bank HERITER 46,405 - - 46,405

borrowings
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,810 4,066 2,176 8,052
Trade payables B 5N RIE 96,732 = = 96,732
Other payables and accruals - b & 1~ 208 & 412,919 - - 412,919
st E R

557,866 4,066 2,176 564,108

On demand

or within Over

1 year 1to 5 years 5 years Total

RE sk
1R 1E54 SEM 1Bt
31 December 2023 2023412 A31 H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREBTT ARETT ARETT
Interest-bearing bank HESRITER 49,478 - - 49,478

borrowings
Lease liabilities HEAR 11,039 1914 - 12,953
Trade payables H 5 R RIE 110,168 - - 110,168
Other payables and accruals — H fb J& 1< 5838 & 507,959 - - 507,959
st E R

678,644 1914 - 680,558
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the
parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were
as follows:
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30. REAREEBEEREBE &)

BEXREE

AEEEAEENERBEEERAAEE
EABELEXRBERRBRENEAR LR -
A BEEEBMEARRERABRERE -

AEBRELEARALECRABEENR
RIEHBEBHEEARAEBRELARE - BR
BAABRERGER AXEEMEFAERRK
RIREZRE - MREREEARNBEITH
A% - NE BB A A HNEBHE DI A E AR
Bk o RELZE 2024912 A31H K 2023512
A31BIEFERN BEEANBE  KE
SIEFF I EEE -

AEBUAEERBLERETEA - AEL
RREEFERAGREEANINERFE -
BERFRBREFERTREMETRRS
LRBEEEEY BEABRERIRRHEABAR
DS  RBEHRRNEERGBLENT -

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE®TR ARKTET
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T EIRIT RE A B R (5 29)

(note 29) 52,868 61,258
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReRBEEFEY (545,156) (531,583)
Net debt B FER (492,288) (470,325)
Total equity s AR 1,097,860 1,032,707
Gearing ratio BEAMFGLE N/ATEA N/A 7T 38 FB

PREEARIRD (g1
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

40. A BB AR E

BRAARBARHERROMBERRENE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: N
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREBTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment EYSE 1 5
Interest in subsidiaries N EEPNEILE R 310,104 334,427
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 310,105 334,432
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE AT RI8 I H b Y 5K IR 718 647
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEYD 6,024 12,810
Total current assets REEELE 6,742 13,457
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEEE
Other payables and accruals Hitn e RIBERETE R 2,575 -
Due to subsidiaries FET BT B A &) 62,359 67,497
Total current liabilities mENBEETE 64,934 67,497
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE (58,192) (54,040)
NET ASSETS HEFBE 251,913 280,392
EQUITY s
Share capital (note 30) f&AS (B 5% 30) 7,082 7,082
Other reserves H b 244,831 273,310
TOTAL EQUITY ERAHE 251,913 280,392
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. 7 R Bf B AR i 5k (&)

41.

42.

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B3
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RAREBERENT -
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R RE BEXEERE RitER #st
RMB1000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARBETT
1 January 2023 M203E1 18 403,986 48 (115,292) 288742
Profit for the year FRFE - - 3,875 3875
2023 dividend 203ERH 8 (19,307) g = (19,307)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R203F 124318 K
204F1 /18 384,679 48 (111,417) 273310
Loss for the year FREE - = (8907) (8,907)
2024 dividend WAERE (19572) - - (19572)
At 31 December 2024 M204E12A31R 365,107 48 (120324) 244831
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 4. LB F
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with REBRHEFTEENDE UKELRFE
the current year's presentation. 2R -
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  42. Bf 3R R Myt
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by RO N2025F3 8B KEEESH

the board of directors on 28 March 2025. R RAETE -

FREFEMARAA
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Ui ]

For the five years ended 31 December 2024 #Z2024% 12 A31 H It AEAFE

Results 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
o 2020 4F 20214 2022 4F 2023 %F 2024 F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB0O0O = RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT ARETT ARETRT AR%®TR
Revenue Uz 1752317 1873,533 1,702,395 1709642 1,778,998
Cost of sales SHE PR (1310676)  (1,440,794)  (1345040)  (1,359,084) (1,412,185)
Gross profit EF 441,641 432,739 357,355 350,558 366,813
Other income and gains Hofth e A B 54,909 51,088 55,794 49,281 41,495
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEAX (12,580) (12,361) (5014) (6,488) (7,298)
Administrative expenses THAEY (238401) (227,316) (210,135) (192,345)  (206,451)
Net impairment losses recognised BRAEREE
on financial assets MEBEFE (22,837) (32,307) (54,102) (58,662) (41,090)
Share of profits and losses of: FEAG AT FIE KRB -
Joint Ventures AETE 2,595 2824 3,167 2838 2,373
Associates i /NE] 211 1,194 1,309 167 378
Other expenses HinFz (4,855) (18,600) (12877) (17,261) (15,374)
Finance costs BB R AR (18,064) (6,378) (2,883) (3,379) (2,367)
Profit before tax PR B AT F R 202,619 190,383 132614 124,709 138,479
Income tax expenses FTiSRif X (51,839) (58,844) (43,564) (40,737) (46,353)
Profit for the year FENE 150,780 132,039 89,050 83,972 92,126
Assets and liabilities 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
BEEREE 20204 20215 20026 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 = RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT ARETRT ARETT AR%®TR
Non-current assets FEMBEE 869,159 775,187 687,037 671,095 631,306
Current assets REEE 1,200,373 1,412,296 1,270,083 1396157 1,308,879
Total assets BEE 2,069,532 2,187,483 1,957,120 2067252 1,940,185
Current liabilities RBEE 1,101,163 1,106,323 939,840 997,448 803,007
Non-current liabilities EREEE 76,943 98,055 30,351 37,097 39,318
Total liabilities BwaE 1,178,106 1,204,378 970,191 1,034,545 842,325
Net assets BEFE 891,426 983,105 986,929 1032707 1,097,860
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